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(4628) The Court (Continuing): And it seems 
to me unnecessary to have her testimony and the 
exhibit, which n1ay or 1nay not be the same. It may 
have characterizations. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 314 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. In using the tenns ''executive, professional, clerical 
and sales and nwnual workers" in the last exhibit and in 
the exhibits that you have so far referred to and will refer 
to today, did you use those terms in the same sense in 
which you used and applied them in the exhibits that you 
prepared that have heretofore been received in evidence 
or offered in evidence? A. Yes, they are all based on the 
Census definitions of those categories. 

Mr. McGohey: I move to strike that out, your 
Honor. The record is full of testimony that there is 
no such thing in the Census classification as the 
classification "executive," and the defendant Wilk­
erson testified that that -vvas an arbitrary classifica­
tion which he took to include prof€s1sional and a lot 
of other people. 

The Court: Well, I take it that Mrs. Rodman 
is in effect testifying that this table that was just 
received was prepared by the use of the same tech­
niques and the same n1ethod of proceeding as was 
used in connection with the tables that were put in 
evidence earlier during ( 4629) the testimony of 
~fr. Wilkerson-is that not so 1 

Mr. Gladstein: That is right. 
The Court : Is that not so, ~1rs. Rodman' 
The Witness: That is right. 
:Mr. McGohey: That I have no objection to but 

I think the ·witness said something a little different. 
The Court: It was a little different but I gather 

that what she meant was what I just said. 
Mr. McGohey: I accept that, your Honor. 
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Q. Now, Mrs. Rodman, did you prepare, while you 
had the photostats of the grand jury panels a breakdown 
by occupation of the jurors whose names appear on those 
panels~ A. Yes, I did for all of the 70 panels from 1944 
to 1949-1948. 

Q. Did you prepare the result of that occupational 
analysis in tabular form~ A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And is the tabulation true and correct and does it 
truly ·state what it purports to state~ A. Yes. 

The Court: And it was prepared just as the 
others were that Mr. Wilkerson testified about1 

The Witness: Yes. 
The Court: Yes. 
The Clerk: Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 315 

for identification. 
Mr. Gladstein: You do not have to number 

( 4630) them separately. You can give them a 
series, 315, 315-A, if you will, or put them all in one 
batch and clip them so that we can save time. 

The Court: 315 contains how many7 

Q. Can you answer that, Mrs. Rodman 7 

The Court: Did you say 18 ~ I have forgotten 
the number of grand jurors that are represented in 
Exhibit 315. 

The Witness: 70 panels. 
The Court: 70 7 
The Witness : Yes. 
The Court: So are there 70 different sheets t 
The Witness: No, there are ten tables. Five 

of them are occupational classifications, one for each 
of the five years, and five of them are in geographi­
cal classifications, one for each of the five years, and 
I believe there is an eleventh which is a summary of 
the whole thing. 

The Clerk: Eleven total, your Honor. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 315 for 
identification.) 
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Q. Then these docurnents include a geographical as 
well as an occupational analys1s~ A. That is right. Five 
of them ·were a geographical analysis. 

lvir. Gladstein: Do you have those, Mr. Clerk? 

(4631) (The clerk hands to Mr. Gladstein.) 

Q. And is the tabulation that you have just testified 
about concerning the occupational and geographical an­
alysis of the grand jurors whose names appear on the 
panels comnwncing January 1944 and going through 1948, 
contained within the documents stapled and marked as 
Exhibit 315 for identification~ A. I believe so. 

Q. \\Till you look through it~ A. Yes. (After exam­
ining) Yes, they are all there. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer these in evidence (hand­
ing). 

The Court: Mr. Gladstein, while Mr. McGohey 
is looking at them, what is the compensation pro­
vided for grand jurors~ Is it the same as peti~ 
jurors~ 

Mr. Gladstein: My understanding is that it is. 
The Court: Of course, one of your points has 

been all along that the provision or the statute pro­
viding for the per diem compensation to jurors is 
unconstitutional. 

Mr. Gladstein: I think that is not quite the 
way it is stated in the challenge, your Honor. We 
assert that that statute as applied in practice here, 
in the light of the methods of selection of jurors, 
both petit and grand, has an effect which is plainly 
in violation of the Constitution. 

The Court: In substance, your claim is that they 
( 4632) ought to provide a sufficient amount of per 
diem compensation to jurors that may be possible 
for workmen earning eighteen or twenty or twenty­
two dollars a day to serve without loss. 

Mr. Gladstein: Our basic point is that the Jurv 
Commissioner and the clerk ought to conduct a sv~­
tem of jurors in such a way that workers can serve 
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here regardless of what the amount is that they are 
paid. You rnight notice from this last series of ex­
hibits, Judge, that throughout the five-year period 
that the grand jury panels were studied, in all of 
them you find less tLan one per cent of workers on 
any of those panels. In other words, you do not 
even get one man in a hundred on the grand jury in 
this court in the last five years who is a working 
man. 

Mr. Gordon: As you define them. 
That statement of counsel, your Honor, is not 

supported by the exhibits he just put in. 
The Court : You see, I am not going to take as 

evidence in this case, no more than in any other case, 
the statements of counsel, but I feel with the limi­
tation of time it is not wise to get into a discussion 
about it. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, with re­
spect to Challenge Exhibit 315 just offered-that is 
the table consisting of the-of what is said to be 
an analysis of ( 4633) the various panels of the 
grand jurors, on the first page of this exhibit there 
appears this legend: 

''Source: Compiled fron1 Official Panel List­
ings, Federal Grand Juries, Southern District of 
New York,"-

and I direct your Honor's attention to this language 
following: 

''according to definitions in Alphabetical Index 
of Occupations and the Classified Index of Occu­
pations, U.S. Census, 1940." 

Now the table itself says, "Occupation of Jur­
ors,'' and there are the four classifications: execu­
tive, professional, clerical and sales, and n1anual. 
I call your Honor's attention to the fact that there 
is nothing in the Alphabetical Index of Occupations 
or in the Classified Index of Occupations of the 
U. S. Census, that there is no such occupational 
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classification as ''executive,'' and the manual labor­
elis as defined by Mr. Wilkerson included craftsmen 
as well as nwnual workers, as defined in the Census. 

( 4634) The Court: I think we may take it, as 
the witness has just testified, that she prepared that 
using the same identical methods, and in the same 
,,~ay that _l\Ir. Wilker~on said he prepared these other 
chart:-:, ~1nd that that must be taken as being all, to­
gether IYiih ,,·hat is staied in that exhibit. 

1Ir. ~IcGohcy: In thnt state of the record, your 
Honor, I will a~eept it, but I sug·gest that the word 
marked ''Source'' be stricken because it is inaccurate 
on the exhibit, unless it is Htipnlated to be under­
stood in the sense your Honor just stated. 

The Court: It ·will be stricken. It is misleading, 
but with that exception the paper is now received. 

(~farked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 315 in 
evidence.) 

Q. 1frs. Rodman, did you prepare certain panels of 
petit jurors of which copies have been made, against photo­
stats from the office of the jury clerk to ascertain what 
errors and discrepancies might have come into such copies~ 
A. Yes, I did. There 1vere 14 such panels, copies of panels 
·which I carefully checked against photostatic copies. 

Q. And 1vhat did you do with the results of your check~ 
A. I tnbulated them und I listed such errors as I found, 
and discrepancies between the typed copies and the photo­
static copies. 

( 46:35) Q. Does the tabulation show the particular petit 
jury panels you snbjeeted to this check'? A. Yes, it doe.s. 

Q. Does it give the identificatjon number of the exhibit 
in court? A. Yes. 

Q. And does it show what errors, if any, were found 
l"rith re~;pcd to each of those panels respectively? A. Yes, 
it does. 

Q. Does the table also show what the errors consisted 
of? A. Yes. 

Q. Is the table true and correct~ A. Yes. 
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Q. Does it .accurately represent what it purports to 
represent 1 A. Yes. 

The Uourt: That is, you checked your type­
written panels against the photostats"? 

The Witness: Yes, and they showed these errors 
and discrepancies. 

(1Iarked Defenuants' Challenge Exhibit :315-A 
for identification.) 

.Nir. Gladstein: This should take a different 
number. 

The Court: He has not had a chance to mark the 
grand jury panels and he does not want his number 
wrong. This can be 315-A and give those another 
number. 

Q. All right. Is Exhibit 315-A for identification tabula-
tion just referred to in youJ· testimony (handing) 0? ( 4636) 
A. Yes, it is. 

:Mr. Gladstein: I offer it. 
Mr. 11cGohey: IVlay I ask \vhat photostats are 

being described~ Is it represented those photostats 
are photostats made in the office of the clerk 1 

Mr. Gladstein: They are. vVe obtained them 
from 1fr. McKenzie's office. 

l\f r. l\1cGohey: lVIay I ask the \Yitness one ques­
tion 1 

The Court : Yes. 
1vfr. :McGohey: lvfl's. Rodman, did ~you personally 

check each one of those errors yourself'¥ 
The Witness: Yes, I did. 
:Mr. :McGohey: Each one1 
The vVitness: Yes. 
:Mr. l\IcGohey: There is no objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge :BJxhibit 315-A for identi-
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Did you prepare at my request a tabulation showing 
from figures obtained in the annual reports of the Board 
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of Elections for New York City the numbers of registered 
voters in l\lanhattan and the Bronx in the years 1941, 1942 
and 1946: A. Yes, I did. 

Q. In that you simply transfer the figures from the 
Board. of Elections' report to an exhibit, is that right1 A. 
That is right. 

( 4G37) The Clerk : .:\lay I put these grand jury 
panel numbers in the record now 1 

(Dc•fendants' Challenge :B'Jxhibits 316 to 373 in­
clusiYe marked in evidence.) 

(Defewbnis' Challenge Exhibit 374 marked for 
identi{ica tion.) 

The Court: 37 4 for identification is a tabulation 
of the number of persons in the registered voting 
lists~ 

Mr. Gladstein: That is correct, your Honor. 
The Court: .Arranged by Assembly Districts 1 
:Mr. Gladstein: It is. 
The Court: Then we are through with the check­

ing now, aren't we? 

Q. Is Exhibit 37 4 for identification the tabulation re­
garding the registered lists as you have indicated in your 
testimony? A. Yes. 

~fr. Gladstein: I offer it. 
rrhc Court : What years are those 1 
:\Ir. Gladstein: 1941, 1942 and 1946, your Honor. 

The testimony sJwwR registered lists for those 
years-

Mr. McGohey: No objection, your Honor. 

(Defendants' Challenge F~xhibit 374 for identifica­
tion received in evidence.) 

The Court: What were you stating about what 
the evidence shows? 

( 4638) l\1r. Gladstein: The registered lists for 
those yeftr·s that 'Were marked. 
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The Court: Those ·were the ones on the table~ 
Mr. Gladstein: No. I don't think the 1941 and 

1942, but Mr. Borman said 1941 and 1D42 lists were 
used and :rvfr. Wilkerson talked about the use of the 
1946 lists, some of which are in evidence. 

Q. Now are you familiar with a publication known as 
the Federal Grand Juror 1 A. Yes. 

Q. You have seen copies of it and photostats of iU A. 
Yes, I have. 

Q. And these are copies that are exhibits for identifica­
tion in this case. A. That is right. 

Q. At my request did you go through these publications 
to prepare a list of the names of persons for the purpose 
of checking them againf:;t certain directories~ A. Yes. 

:11r. Isserman: If the Court please, the name is 
Federal Jurors. ''Grand'' does not appear in the 
title. 

The Court: I got it wrong myself most of the 
time so we can excuse 1fr. Gladstein. 

Q. Did you check such names against ''Who's Who'' 1 
A.. Yes, I did. 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. The Federal 
Juror was offered and exduded. 

( 4639) The Court: I am not quite clear as to 
the names we are now having a discussion about. 
Will you make a brief statement about it~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, your Honor. I want Mrs. 
Rodman to identify-

Will you mark this for identification. 
The Court: Let me get the drift of it. 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, I want her to identify an 

exhibit which has been prepared w·hich consists of a 
partial list of the members of the Federal Grand 
Jurors Association and gives information as to 
whether on examination of the following, Poor's 
Directory, Directory of Directors, Social Register 
and Who's \Vho, such persons are found listed in 
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those directories and the compilations of such in­
formation are set forth in this exhibit. 

1Ir. lsserman: If the Court please, Mrs. St. 
Clair-

The Court: Just a second. She went over mem­
bership lists, did she, of the Federal Grand Jury 
Association. 

}lr. Gladstein: The :B1ederal Juror from time to 
time publishetS the names of members of the Associa­
tion. It does not publish a full list at any one time, 
but the partialli~;t, which one can compile from read­
ing the issues of The ] 1ederal Juror is here shown in 
this ( 4640) tabulation. 

The Court: \Vhat do you say, :Mr. Gordon~ 
nlr. Gordon: That is objected to as irrelevant, 

and in one case it seems to be a tabulation based 
upon two sets of exhibits which have been offered 
and excluded; on the one hand The Federal Juror 
and on the other hand Poor's Directory. 

The Court: But you fundamentally object to the 
line of proof as irrelevant and incompetent~ 

l\Ir. Gordon: Yes, sir. 
The Court: I sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: I would like to have it marked 

for identification, and let the record show-may it be 
stipulated that ::\Irs. Rodman is prepared to iden­
tify-

nir. Gordon: That is objected to. 
The Court: He may ask whether you will stipu­

late, and you either will or you won't. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 375 marked for 
identification.) 

Q. Is Ko. 375 for identification an exhibit prepared by 
you showing from data obtained from copies of the Federal 
Juror, based on a partial list of membership of the Associa­
tion, the Federal Grand J-ury Association, as shown in 
those issues of The ]1 ederal Juror whether and to what 
extent members of the Association are to be ( 4641} 
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found listed in the Social R.egister, the Directory of Di­
rectors, Poor's Directory and Who's Who in America~ A. 
Yes. 

Q. Did you make a tabulation of certain panels to as­
certain the extent to which people were found on the petit 
jury panels who resided in such places as Knickerbocker 
Village, in the 19th Congressional District? A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And in other areas in that district~ A. And, as a 
matter of fact, in the 19th Congressional District, I believe 
it was, all of the jurors, that they were classified by spe­
cific trades. 

Q. By specific trade·s ol A. Yes. 
Q. And those were the jurors who, according to the 

data shown in the jury clerk's panels, resided below 14th 
Street, is that :So? A. No, that is the 16th below 14th 
Street. The 19th does not have-

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 376 marked for 
identification.) 

The Court: Isn't that a mere matter of computa­
tion, Mr. Gladstein, of the documents in evidence? 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, that is all it is. There will 
be other testimony concerning this, but I merely 
want the witness to identify the document. 

Mr. ~1cGohey: Have you a copy I could look at 1 
( 4642) :Mr. Gladstein: Yes, you certainly may 

(handing). 

Q. In 376 for identification to what do the names and 
residences and dates shown on it refer~ 

Mr. McGohey: Wait a minute. Are we talking 
about this exhibit~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. I am not going to offer it 
through this witness. I want her to identify it. 

Mr. McGohey: I don't want the testimony about 
it until I look at it. 

The Court: You appear to be asking for the 
contents of the document. Perhaps I misunderstood 
the question. 
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Q. Let me ask this question, Mrs. Rodman: the names 
that appear on this exhibit for identification, are they 
names taken from certain panels? A. Yes, they are names 
taken from 39 panels. 

Q. Are the dates of the panels indicated in correspond­
ence to the names 1 A. Yes, they are. 

Q. And is the address of the person given 1 A. Yes, 
Slr. 

Q. And the names and addresses and occupations ap­
pearing on this exhibit for identification, are they also 
the same as appear on the jury panels~ A. Yes, they are. 

1\ir. McGohey: Did you mean 29 panels or 26, 
as tho exhibit states~ 

( 4643) l\lr. Gladstein: It says 29. 
The Witness: I meant 29. 
l\[r. l\:[cGohey: The paper says "Data on all 

jurors appearing in 26 panels.'' 
The Court: Well, that is a mistake. It has 29. 
l\Ir. McGohey: Let's find out. 
The Court: The paper is offered, is it not, Mr. 

Gladstein~ 
Mr. Gladstein: No. The 26 on that one and the 

29 on the next one I am about to show her. 
Mr. :McGohey: Wait. That just cannot be. I 

.am handed a paper,-
Nir. Gladstein: Which one do you have t 
Mr. l\1cGohey: I am looking at the one you 

handed me. 
The Court: 376 for identification is the only one. 

Does that say 26? 
Mr. 1\{cGohey: Yes, that says 26. 
Mr. Gladstein: Is that the correct statement! 
The Witness: It says 26. 
The Court: You say 29. 
:Mr. Gladstein: No. 29 on another one. I think 

I misled, inadvertently, the witness. 
The Witness: I did not like to s.ay I checked 

( 4644) through 29 panels in compiling both of these, 
and it is possible it says 26, because there were a 
couple panels which had no residents in that Con-
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gressional District so there would be a total of 26 
listed here. That is here there are 26. I checked 
through 29 panels. 

The Court : You are now clear three were 
omitted because they had no names that were ap­
plicable to this district~ 

The Witness: Yes. 
The Court : Do you say '' Y cs'' 1 You shake your 

head. 
The Witness: I would like to check that before I 

answer. 
:Nir. 1'lcGohey: If there is any inaccuracy, and 

if the witness does not know whether 26 or 29 I 
object to it going in. 

The Court: I will sustain the objection but on 
a different ground. :Matters that are mere computa­
tions and repetitions fron1 papers already in evi­
dence I have, from a certain date in this trial, ex­
cluded, and I exclude this one. 

Q. Did you prepare a tabulation for the 16th Con­
gressional District in the ·same manner you testified con­
cerning the 19th f A. Yes. 

!1:r. Gladstein: Would you sho'v Mrs. Rodman 
( 4645) that last exhibit~ 

The Court: If this is the same sort that I think, 
you can have it marked for identification, and I will 
exclude it on the same grounds I excluded the 
previous one. 

(Grand jury panels marked Defendants' Chal­
lenge Exhibits 377 to 388 inclusive for identification.) 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 389 marked for 
identification.) 

Q. Is 389 for identification the one you prepared con­
cerning the 16th District~ A. Yes. 

Q. Did you make a tabulation for the occupations and 
industries of executives, as we used that expression in this 
case, on a group of panels of petit jurors~ A. Yes, I did. 
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Q. Did you prepare a tabulation showing the result f A. 
Yes. 

:Mr. Gladstein: J\!Iark this, please. 

( l\Iarked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 390 for 
identification.) 

The Court: You worked that out bv the same 
system that l\1:r. Wilkerson testified and used the 
same method as he used 1 

The Witness : The exceptional classifications 
are done on the same basis. 

( 4646) The Court: That is what I mean. In 
finding out what the occupational classification was 
you proceeded as he did 1 

The Witness: I have not read the testimony. 
1\!Ir. l\IcGohey: I have been laboring under the 

impression this morning tho witness said she did all 
of this on the same basis as 11:r. Wilkerson. 

The Witness: Yes. I worked with him. I know 
we used the same techniques and used the same basis 
for our classification, but I don't }{now what the 
testimony is. 

The Court: Is it conceded it was the same 
method~ 

Mr. Gladstein: The use of the term ''profession­
al", "executive" and ''manual workers" and the 
manner of using the census classification and so on 
with respect to the \vitness 's testimony is the same 
as that of Mr. Wilkerson but she was not present 
when he testified to prove these. 

The Court: You know he testified repeatedly not 
only to using these various books that were in evi~ 
dence but to the fact that they made supplementary 
and collateral investigations now and then by calling 
people up and going around and seeing this and that, 
and that is the way thev found out all these occu­
pational classifications. · 

Did you know about that, Mrs. Rodman~ 
( 4647) The Witness: Ye·s, but I would like to 

explain that. 
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so. 
Q. Would you do that and the extent to which it was 

Mr. McGohey: May I call your Honor's atten­
tion to one thing, that the witness, 1\fr. Wilkerson, 
also testified under cross-examination that ·while he 
personally was not able to supervise each item that 
he relied in great part upon what he called the 
"expert professional ability" of this very witness. 

The Court: That is right. · 
lvfr. l\1cGohey: For a great many of the charts 

and tables and conclusions as to which he testified. 
lvfr. Gladstein: And she has that expert pro­

fessional ability. 
Mr. .McGohey: I don't question it. I do not 

concede it, but I am not questioning it at the moment. 
I want to find out who was doing what. 

The Witness: I testified before, I think, that 
I did all of the occupational classifications with the 
exception of a few panels which 11r. Wilkerson did 
himself, but the most part we did them together and 
he checked on all of those I did. 

On this collateral evidence you asked about, for 
the first few panels I did occupational classifications 
for, because I wanted to make sure that the classifica­
tion ( 4648) I was using was the same as those I 
found in the alphabetical index and the classified 
index, and because you have to know the industry in 
which a person operates and works. In order to 
do that-this is just information for yourself-it 
does not affect whether a man is a proprietor, man­
ager or official or a manual worker. It was collateral 
just for my ovvn personal satisfaction in determining 
whether I was correct in classifying a man as say 
156AB, which is banking and finance and where a 
firm '.s man was listed as a broker and the firm was 
.Jones & Jones, and I did not know what Jones & 
Jones was, and he is a broker nevertheless, and 
where I did not know what the industry was on the 
first few panels I classified I did make a few phone 
calls. There were not many of them; maybe two or 
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throe on each panel in order to clarify for myself 
what industry the ambiguous firm name represented. 
After I satisfied myself that these classifications were 
the same as those of the <3ensus it was no longer 
necessary to do an industry breakdown. The alpha­
betical index supplied definitions for the actual posi­
tion that the man held as he defined it on the jury 
list. 

Q. And when you say alphabetical index you are re­
ferring to the census tables? A. That is right. Our colla­
teral evidence was not very much used. 

The Court: Well, that is as clear as mud. 

( 4649) Q. Now, 390 for identification, was this pre­
pared by you~ A. Yes, it was. 

Q. What, in general, does it refer to~ A. In general 
it. is a breakdown of the specific occupations the industries 
of all the executives on 14 petit jury panels. 

Q. Are the 14 petit jury panels indicated on the exhibitf 
A. Yes, sir. 

The Court: We have gone past our recess time. 
Ten minutes recess. 

(Short recess.) 

( 4650) Q. Now, on 390 for identification, where did you 
get the names that appear under the column "Illustrative 
firms represented''~ A. From the petit jury panels. 

Q. And where did you get the "Specific occupations" 
bv '' Industrv' '~ A. From the same source. 

· Q. And the figures shown in the column designated 
"Number" is .simply your tabulation? A. That is correct. 

Q. Is it true .and correct 1 A. Yes. 
Q. And accurately represents what it purports to repre­

sent~ A. Yes. 

1Ir. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. l\fcGohey: I am going to object to this, 

your Honor, on the same grounds that your Honor 
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excluded the others; that is a tabulation of material 
from the various exhibits already in eviden~e; cumu­
lative. 

The Court: Objection sustained. 
:N[r. Gladstein: Will yon mark this, please1 
Mr. l\f cGohey: What is the number of that~ 
The Clerk: 390 for identification. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 390 for 
identification.) 

Q. :Mrs. Rodman, did you make a study of 31 panels 
showing geographical location of jurors who live in West­
chester 1 A. Yes. 

Q. And did you set forth the results of that study 
( 4651) in tabular form~ A. Yes, I did. 

(:Niarked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 391 for 
idcmtification.) 

Q. And I show you Exhibit 391 for identification, and I 
ask you to state ·whether this is the tabular result of that 
analy1sis (handing) 1 A. Yes. 

Q. The dates of the panels are there shown 1 A. Yes, 
they are. 

Q. And these are the panels obtained from the clerk's 
office, is that right 1 A. Right. 

Q. Is this exhibit true and correct, and does it ac­
curately reflect and represent what it purports to set forth 1 
A. Yes. 

11r. Gladstein: I offer that in evidence. 
Mr. M.cGohey: The same objection, your Honor. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Did you make a tabulation to show the occupational 
classific.ation of the jurors who come from Westchester, as 
they appear on 31 petit jury panels~ A. Yes, I did. 

(Idarked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 392 for 
identification.) 
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Q. What sources did your information come from and 
what methods did you use~ A. The sources were the petit 
jury panels themselves, and the occupational classifications 
were based on tho definitions in the Classified ( 4652) 
Index of Occupations and the Alphabetical Index of Occu­
pations of tho U. S. Census. 

Q. And tho occupational description as given on the 
jury clerk's panels~ A. Yes. I said they were from the 
official panels. 

Q. Ancl did you set forth the results of that analysis 
in tabular form P A. Yes. 

Q. And is that table true and correct and does it ac­
curately set forth what it purports to represent~ A. Yes, 
it does. 

Q. And I show you Exhibit 392 for identification and 
ask you if this is the tabulation result showing the occupa­
tional breakdown of Westchester jurors for those panels 
(handing) 1 A. Yes, sir. 

~1r. Gladstein: I offer that in evidence. 
~1r. NicGohey: The same objection. 
The Court: The same ruling. 
~1:r. l\1:cGohey: What is the last, 392? 
Tho Clerk: 392 for identification. 

Q. :Mr. Wilkerson testifled concerning an exhibit having 
to do with the number of repeats that were found in petit 
jury panels. Did yon work on such an exhibit~ A. Yes, I 
worked on that. 

~1r. 1fcGohey: ~fay we have the exhibit number 
and let us look at it? 

( 4653) JYrr. Gladstein: 137. 

Q. I show it to you; is this it, ~{rs. Rodman (handing) 1 
A. Yes. 

Q. All right. Now l\!I r. Wilkerson testified that there 
were something over 1,000 such repeats, and this exhibit 
shows some 300-odd. A. That is right. 

Q. Will you give it? 
(~. Do you have an explanation for that? A. Yes. 
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Mr. 11cGohey: I object to that, your Honor. 
1fr. Gladstein: She worked on it. She has a 

right to state what the explanation is. 
Mr. :McGohey: I don't know that she worked on 

it. 
The Court: Well, it was :Mr. Wilkerson who 

gave the testimony, ~as I remember it, that he checked 
it all carefully and there were something like 1,000 
or 1100, and it turned out there were only 300. Ho'\v 
can she explain? 

1'1r. Gladstein: Well, let us hear her answer and 
then if you want you can strike it out. 

1f r. 1fcGohey: No, I object to that, your IIonor. 
The Court: I do not quite see how any explana­

tion by this witness would help the matter. :Mr. 
Wilkerson had said ho"T carefully he checked and 
double-checked and went OVer everything \Vith the 
utmost care personally, and that he knew there were 
so many names and so many repeats, and ( 4654) 
it turned out that he exagger·ated it by about two or 
three hundred per cent. I do not see what this wit­
nes-s could add to it. She isn't supposed to have 
given testimony on it. I will sustain the objection. 

Q. :Mrs. Rodman, did you study or make any study to 
ascertain the extent to which there were repetitions of 
the names of jurors on some of these panels"! A. Yes, I 
did. 

Q. And did you prepare exhibits showing the results 
of your study? A. Yes, I prepared .an exhibit on it. 

·Q. And do you recall the number of such repeats that 
you found 1 A. Yes, there were 320 repeats. 

Q. On ~a particular exhibit? A. That is right, on Ex­
hibit 137. 

Q. Did you make any study as to any other repeats f 
.A. On-

Q. Not on this one but was your study broader than 
this particular one? A. (No response.) 

Q. Is this the only one that you made a study of? A. 
That is right. 
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Q. Did you make a study of the new petit juries, that 
is to say, since January 17, 1949~ A. Occupational analyses, 
geographical analyses. 

is. 

Mr. NicGohey: Will you please keep your voice 
up, :Mrs. Rodman? I just can't hear you. 

( 4655) (Answer read.) 

Q. The January 17th panel is one of those¥ A. Yes. 
Q. The February 1st panel is another~ A. Yes, it is. 
Q. And the February 14th panel is another! A. Yes, it 

Mr. Gladstein: Will you please mark these in 
order1 

Q. Did you use the same methods that you had hereto~ 
fore described as having used on other panels .in respect of 
these last three named 1 A. Yes. 

'Q. Did you prepare in tabular form the results of your 
analyses 1 A. Y e·s. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 393, 394 
and 395 for identification.) 

Q. And I show you those three exhibits and ask you 
if they are the ones that you prepared (handing?) 

Mr. McGohey: May I ask if the panels that these 
tables purport to relate to are in evidence' 

1\Ir. Gladstelin: One of them is, the January 17th. 
I am not sure about the February one but I am 
having her identify these. 

Q. Are these the three (handing) f A. Yes, they are. 
Q. And do they truly and accurately set forth what they 

purport to set forth 1 .A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: I will offer them. 
( 4656) :Mr. ~IcGohey: With respect to the­
The Court: What is it you are laughing about? 
The Witness: I am not laughing. Mr. Gladstein 

looked pleasant. 
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The Court: It seems as though there must have 
been some joke here. 

The Witness: There wasn't any joke. 
1\Ir. Gladstein: I maJe an offPr of exhibit, your 

Honor. 
Mr. :McGohey: Now, if your I-Ionor please, with 

respect to tJ anuary 17th, the panel for ,January 17th, 
the second list, my recollection is that there is some 
testimony and that there is a map in with respect to 
that. :May I ask if that is correct, if there isn't a 
map1 

The Court: January 17th~ 
Mr. McGohey: January 17th. 
11:r. Gladste1in: There is a map that shows both 

the first and second panels. 
lYir. :McGohev: lVIav I ask then if it isn't a fact 

that January lith- · 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. :McGohey: -is a tabulation of something 

that is already in evidence, this exhibit-what is it, 
Mr. Clerk1 

The Court: The map is Challenge Exhibit 65 
which ( 4657) has to do \\lith the panel of January 
17, 1949. 

Mr. Gladstein: These are three separate analyses 
and tabulations of the last three juries. I offer 
them. 

1Ir. McGohey: There isn't any doubt that they 
have been oiiered, your Honor, but I am trying to 
ascertain whether or not these are not the subject of 
something that is already in evidence, and it is not 
merely tabulation of something in evidence. 

The Court: Let me see the first one, the January 
17th. 

(Handed to the Court.) 

~Ir. :McGohey: May I have the exhibit numbers 
a little more specifically~ 

The Clerk: 393 is January 17th; 394 is February 
1st; 395 is the ],ebruary 14th panel. 
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The Court: lYir. Gladstein, is it not the fact that 
there has been already put in evidence a table ap­
plicable to this January 17th paneU 

Mr. Gladstein: As a part, I think, of a larger 
one, your Honor. 

The Court: \.Vha t is that 1 
:Mr. Gladstein: As a part of a larger one, I 

believe. No table, as I recall, that shows both the 
geographical and occupational breakdown for that 
particular ( 4658) panel alone. That is my recol­
lection. 

The Court : Well, I will receive this Challenge 
Exhibit 393 as I am in doubt 1as to whether it is 
already .substantially in evidence or not. 

1lr. McGohey: Now with respect to Challenge 
Exhibits 394 and 395, I object to them on the ground 
that the panels that they purport to relate to are not 
in evidence. 

The Court: Objection sustained. 
Mr. Gladst,ein: I have no further questions of 

this witness, not because I have no testimony to elicit 
from her that would be materi'al and important, but 
because time limitations imposed by the Court make 
it impossible for me to pursue further examination 
with this witness. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 393 for identifica­
tion received in evidence.) 

Gross exarnination by Mr. Gordon: 

Q. Mrs. Rodman, I think you said that in making these 
analyses you used the occupation which was listed on the 
P'anel and took no additional ;information ·except that in 
the beginning you called up to find out about the industry, 
is that right 1 A. No. I .always looked at the industry that 
was listed where I was in doubt. 

Q. Yes. A. (Continuing) From time to time, and there 
( 4659) were very few instances I didn't make checks. 

Q. Well, ·if there was no doubt about the industry and 
the occupation of the person was given, then there was no 
trouble in classifying them 1 A. No. 
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Mr. Gordon: 1fay I have Exhibit 51' 

(:Handed to :Mr. Gordon.) 

Mr. Gordon: And Exhibit 16. 

(Handed to Mr. Gordon.) 

Q. Now Exhibit 51, which is in evidence, iR a panel for 
January 4, 1949, and underneath the nameR or underneath 
the occupations given on here for the jurors, there is some 
pencil writing. Is that in your handwriting (handing)? 
A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Now refer to .John D. Adams, if you will. 

The Court: What is the number of this exhibit''? 
:Mr. Gordo11 : 51, your Honor. 

Q. What is i\1r. Adams' occupation given as! A. A 
soap maker. 

Q. And for whom does l\fr. Adams work? A. The Col­
gate Palm Olive Peet Company. 

Q. Mr. Adams is a so.ap maker with Colgate Palm Olive 
Peet 1 A. Yes. 

Q. You will have to keep your voice up. A. Y·es, he is. 
Q. And in what category of the four arbitrary ( 4660) 

classifications which Mr. Wilkerson testified about did you 
put Mr. Adams, the soap maker 1 

J\!Ir. Sacher: I object to the question in so far as 
it speaks of "four arbitrary classifications." 

The Court : Overruled. 
J\1r. Sacher: Exception. 
The Court: She testified io that herself this 

morning. 
J\fr. Sacher: That they were arbitrary, your 

Honor·~ That iH the objection. "Arbitrary" is the 
word. 

Mr. Gordon: \Veil, I will withdraw the \Vord 
''arbitrary" to save argument, your Honor. 
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Q. In which of the four categori~es which appear upon 
the exhibits that you have testified about this morning did 
you put ~Ir. Adams! A. In the first category. 

Q. The first category? A. That's right. 
Q. Your classification of" executive"'? A. That's right. 
Q. And ·what Census classifications are included in the 

term "ex·ecutive"? ;L Proprietors, managers and officials. 
Q. Now I hand you Exhibit 16 which i~s the "Alphabeti­

cal Index of Occupations and Industries.'' Please find in 
that book" soap maker" (handing). A. (E·xamining.) 

(46G1) Q. Hav8 you found it;! A. Yes, I have. 
Q. ~Tlw t page ? A. On page 447. 
Q. 447. ''Soap maker' '-by the way, was there any 

doubt in your mind as to Colgate Palm Olive Peet Com­
pnny '1 A. No, I had heard of the company. 

Q. You knevl' that that was a company in the business of 
making soap? A. Yes, I did. 

Q. Now "\vill you tell the Judge how Exhibit 16 indicates 
the classification of a soap maker for a soap factory should 
be indicated? A. It indicates it as 496-17. 

Q. Now refer to the front of the book and tell us where 
496-17 falls. A. (Exainining.) 

Q. Perhaps I can help you. You w:ill find it on page 
29. A. Uh, huh. 

Q. And what docs that como under? A."J.\tfiscellaneous 
chemical industries.'' 

Q. Under what main heading~ A. "Operatives and 
kindred workers.'' 

The Court: "Operatives and kindred "\Vorkers" f 
The \Vitness: Yes. 

Q. And ''Operatives and kindred workers" fall within 
your classification of manual workers~ A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Is 1fr. Adams illustrative of all your work in classi­
fying~ A. No, I don't think he is. 

Q. Oh, you think he is an exception~ A. I think an 
( 4662) error has been made there. 

Q. You think that there ·was an error made~ A. In 
that particular instance. 
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Q. Now :.Mr. Wilkerson said that in making a choice he 
alway:s leaned over backwards to give the benefit of the 
doubt to the Government. Now will vou take the name of 
Nathan Staller on the same exhibit"? "'A. (Examining.) 

Q. What business is Mr. Staller in? A. He is in the 
fnr business. 

Q. Fur business o? A. Yes. 
Q. And ho-w did you classify Mr. Staller in the fur 

business? A. Cla;ssified him under 156-65, which is a 
furrier or dealer in furs, retail or not specified. 

Q. And executive? A. That is right. 
Q. Now turn to page 207 of Exhibit 16. A. (Examin­

ing). 
Q. Do you find six furriers listed there'~ A. Yes. 
Q. And how many of them are listed in the executive 

oategory, your executive category? A. One of them, ''fur 
dealer, retailer, not specified.'' 

Q. Yes. Now the other five fall under what~ A. They 
fall under the category of workers, manual workers. 

Q. Yes. Now ''furrier except dealer," that is a manual 
vrorker ~ A. "Furrier except dealer" is a manual ( 4663) 
worker. 

Q. And '' Furr,ier, any factory or shop'' is a manual 
worker 1 A. A furrier '\:vho works in any factory or shop 
is a manual worker. 

Q. Well, what does it say in the book~ A. It says 
that. 

Q. Where does it say "who works"? 

Mr. Gladstein: Are you saying-

A. Furrier is a manual worker except as a dealer. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor-
The Court: Yes, I do not understand why you 

do not do what counsel asks you to do. 
M:r. Gladstein: Which is what, read the book 

that is in evidence? 
The Court: To read the title as it appears in 

the book. 
l\1:r. Gladstein: Does your Honor want the wit­

ness to read what is in evidence 7 
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The Conl't: That is precisely -what I told her to 
clo. 

::\1 r. Gladstein: All right, I am sure the witness 
will he glad to arcommodate the Court. 

The Court : Yes. 
?vir. Gordon: I take it that these interruptions 

don't come off the cross-examinaiton? 
( 4664) The Court: "\Vell, that is part of Mr. 

G laclst(>in 's stndiecl in~olence. I understand it per­
fcetly. 

Q. The first item is "F,urrier (except dealer)"? A. 
That iR right. 

Q. The next one is sin1ply "Furrier, any factory or 
sl1op"? A. Right. 

Q. '':Manual worker.'' A. Right. 
Q. The next one is "Furrier, except dealer, any store"' 

J\. That is right. 
Q. '' ::\fanual 'vorker. '' A. Right. 
Q. Now tell me, what was there on Exhibit 51 which 

told you that I\I r. Staller was a furrier, dealer~ A. }.fr. 
Staller lists his business address as Staller & Soh. 

Q. Yes? A. At 247 \Vest 30th Street. 
Q. Yes. That means that he is not in any factory or 

shop~ A. That indicates that he is a dealer in furs. H·e 
buvs them or sells them and he is not a man who would be 
a ;Yorker, who ·would sew on furs or work on furs, and 
have nothing; to do -with the proprietary interest in the 
fnr firm. The fact that his name is the same name as the 
one ·which is the nanw of a firm would indicate that he .is at 
least the proprieto1· in that firm, and that he is a fur dealer. 
The 156-65 under which I classified ( 4665) him was taken 
from the Classified Index of Occupations where fur dealers 
were listed. 

Q. That is an explanation but how about answering the 
question as to what information on Exhibit 51 shows now 
ihat he is a dealer in the retail bnsiness~ A. Retail or not 
specified-

Q. I ~ee. A. -is the answer. 
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Q. Now in connection with this \Vork did you use the 
supplement to this Index? A. No, I did not have the 
supplement. 

Q. You did not have the supplement? A. No. 
Q. Now Exhibit V, which is the supplement, shows that 

a furrier who has his own hom·e or shop falls in what cate­
gory (handing) 1 A. In the worker category. 

Q. In the worker category. 

:Th1r. Gladstein: 1fay I see this last exhibit that 
you just showed this witness? 

(Mr. Gordon hands to Mr. Gladstein.) 

Q. Now in connection with the grand jury which handed 
up the indictment in this case did you classify the grand 
jury occupationally? -'-!\_· Yes. 

Q. The panel of 100'? A. The panel of 100? 
Q. Yes. A. I classified all of those. 
Q. Now I am talking about the grand jury that filed 

the indictinent that we .are trying to try in this case. 
( 4666) A. Ye.s, I did those classifications. 

Q. You did those, too? A. Yes. 

Mr. Gordon: I wonder where, if I may have 
those grand jury exhibits-

The Clerk: Grand jury panels? 
:Thtlr. Gordon: Yes. 
The Clerk: They are all in these envelopes, Mr. 

Gordon (indicating). 
~{r. Gordon: No, the analysis-here it is. 

Q. I hand you Exhibit 315. Will you find in there the 
occupational analysis for the panel of June 17th, 1947, or 
June 16th, 1947 (ha.ndjng) 1 A. I have that. 

Q. Do you have that? A. Yes. 

The Court: You say ''Yes''~ 
The Witness: Yes, I have. 

Q. How many manual ·workers did you list~ A. One. 
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Q. Just one. Now hero is the panel, 366 in evidence 
(handing). Tell me who the one manual worker is that 
you listed o? A. Howard Cooper, decorator. 

Q. Decorator? A. Yes. 
Q. He is the only one. 

The Court : He must be the only one. 
The Witness: I will look and see. 
Mr. Gladstein: She is looking at the exhibit, your 

Honor. 
( 4667) The Court: Oh, I thought the tabulation 

showed one manual worker. 
The Witness: It does show one. 
Mr. Gordon: Yes. And I would be happy to 

have her find more than one, your Honor. 
~fr. Gladstein : You won't find even one out of a 

hundred. 
The Court: Strike that remark out. 
11r. Gladstein: I take exception to striking the 

remark out. It was in answer to a remark made 
by 1ir. Gordon, and I also take exception to the 
statement of the Court a few moments ago concern­
ing alleged insolence on my part. 

The Court: I do not desire to hear argument, 
Mr. Gladstein. 

(To witness) Did you find any moreo/ 
The Witness: That is the only one I found. 

Q. That is the only one 1 A. The only one I seem to 
have listed as a worker. 

Q. All right. Now turn to :Nir. B. Russell Herts, 
H-e-r-t-.s. A. Yes. 

Q. Have you got it 1 A. Yes, I have. 
Q. And what is Mr. Herts 's occupation 1 A. Mr. Herts 

is an interior decor a tor "\Vi th the firm of B. Russell Herts, 
Incorporated. 

( 4668) Q. N ovl I want you to take Exhibit 16, the 
Alphabetical Index of Occupations in Industries and find 
"interior decorator" (handing). A. (Examining.) 

Q. Perhaps I can help you- A. I have it. 
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Q. Or do you have the page~ A. Yes, 247. 
Q. 247V A. Yes. 
Q. I-Iow many interior decorators are listed there V 

The Court: How many different kinds of in­
terior decorators? 

1\fr. Gordon: Yes, sir. 

A. Five. 
Q. Five. Now what category did you put Mr. Herts, the 

interior decorator, in? A. I put him in the executive cate­
gory. 

Q. In the executive category~ A. Yes. 
Q. Now tell me how many of the five interior decorators 

Hsted in Exhibit 16 are executives~ A. None of them there. 
Q. None V A. But in the Classified Index you will find 

the proprietor of an interior decorating firm listed as an 
executLive. 

Q. In-

:Mr. Gladstein: Show that to lVfr. Gordon, will 
you please~ 

The Witness: Yes. I would like to, if I could 
( 4669) have the Classified Index. 

Mr. Gladst1ein: Yes. Let us give that to Mr. 
Gordon (handing to witne.ss). 

The Court : Go right ahead, Mr. Gordon. 
Mr. Gordon: Thank you, your Honor. 
The Court: None of the ones listed on page 247 

is executives, I take it'? 
The Witness: That is correct. 

Q. In fact, all of them are manual workers as you classi­
fied them~ A. On page 247 of the Alphabetical Index, they 
are listed as manual workers. 

Q. And did you-

:Mr. Sacher: The witness desires to qualify her 
answer. 

Mr. Gladstein: Not "qualify" but she hasn't 
finished it. Do you have more? 
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The Court: Well, you handed her a book and 
she wants to make an explanation and I will hear the 
explanation. She was leaning over backward to try 
to give the Government all the breaks, and she looked 
up ''interior decorators'' and found all the ones on 
page 247 were listed as manual workers. What was 
it that got you to look up somewhere else to see if 
you could find another place? 

The vVitness: Because for the most part I used 
( 4670) the Classified Index; I was more familiar 
with it and I prefer to work from it. 

lVfr. Gladstein: vVhat exhibit number is that, 
Mrs. Rodman'? 

The vVitness: This is Challenge 17. 

Q. Oh, you used that Index. Now I can find something 
perhaps in Exhibit 16 that will help. 

Mr. Gladstein: Wait a moment. She hasn't 
finished. 

Mr. Gordon: ~iay I question the witness, your 
Honor? 

The Court: l\lr. Gordon, I have stated that I 
will allow Mrs. Rodman to make the explanation­

Mr. Gordon: Oh, I am sorry. 
The Court: -that she desires to make and per­

haps she has concluded it. I understood her to say 
that she used the classified list which is in another 
part of that book or in a separwte book. What is the 
number of the exhibit, nfr,s. Rodman? 

The Witness: That is Challenge 17. 
The Court: Exhibit 17. Now show me where it 

appears in Exhibit 17 among what you call the 
class-the executive class. 

The Witness: It is underlined (indicating.) 
( 4671) 1\'Ir. Gladstein: Will you staJte it out 

loud for the record? 
The Witness: The last item on the page is under-

lined. It says "Proprietor, interio·r decorator." 
:Mr. Gladstein: And what page is that~ 
The Court : That is on page 43. 
:Mr. Gladstein: Very good. 
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Q. Now turn back to Exhibirt 16-let me see that page 
43 while you are doing it. A. (Witne,ss hands to ~Ir. 
Gordon.) 

Q. This is page 43, "Proprietor"- A. The last iten1. 
Q. -"interior decorating company." A. Yes. 
Q. ''Company.'' Now I take it that that does not ap­

pear in Exhibit 16, is that your testimony~ A. I didn't 
look for it in Exhibit 16 when I classified 1fr. I-Ierts, who 
is the proprietor of the B. Russell Herts, Incorporated, the 
company. 

Q. Yes. 1'\.. I had been referring to the Classified Index 
of Occupations and classified him in accordance with that. 

Q. Your thought then was that he was a proprietor of 
the company .and not an interior decorator as he listed him­
self, is that right 1 A. Y cs. I believed that he was the 
proprietor of the B. Russ.ell Herts. 

The Court: Why do you continually smirk this 
way. I do not undersrtand what you are laughing 
about. 

The Witness: I am not laughing. 
The Court: Well, it gives me that impre:Ssion. 
( 4672) 1\fr. Gladstein: I do not understand this, 

your Honor. The witne-ss-
The Court: Well, I have been watching this 

witness and everv once in a while she seems to find 
something funny: I do not know what it is, but I 
observed it. 

l\1r. Isserman: 1laybe you get a different effect 
from the side. 

The Court : Oh yes, I know. 
Mr. Gordon: Counsel's denials do not alter the 

fact, youl' IIonor. 

Q. Now Mr. I-Ierts you classified ,as a proprietor of an 
interior decorating con1pany. I·s that what your testimony 
is? A. That is what I classified him as. 

Q. Instead of as an interior decorator as he listed him­
self~ 
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1Ir. Gladstein: I object to that question because 
it assumes something contrary to the facts. The 
material that tho ·witness worked with-

The Court: I do not desire to hear a.rgumBnt. 
Mr. Gladstein: No, but I would Jik,e to state why 

it is mif'leading. 
The Court: You will please desiiSt. 
:Mr. Gladste1in: I cannot object to a question like 

"When did you stop beating your wife"~ 
( 4673) The Court: You can object but I have 

overruled your objection. 

A. Did you want me to answer your question? I didn't 
classify him despite what he said about himself, but because 
of what he s,aid about himself. 

Q. \Vell, what did he say about himself1 A. That he is 
an interior decorator. 

Q. And where- .. A ... And that his firm bears his name. 
Q. And where is his place of business 1 A. At 360 East 

55th Street. 
Q. And where does he live~ A. At 360 Ea,st 55th Street. 
Q. His place of business then is at his residence? A. It 

would appear so. 
·Q. Yes-or as JHr. Gladstein rsuggests, his residence is at 

his place of business. It would appear that way also 1 A. 
Yes. 

Q. But you did not take him as an interior decorator 
but as a proprietor of a company~ A. That is what it says 
on the panel. 

Q. It says in the panel that he is an interior decorator, 
doesn't it? Do you deny that ! A. There are two parts to 
that. I don't deny that he has "interior decorator" on it. 

( 467 4) Q. Up at the top of the page what does it say~ 
l\1r. Sacher: I object to that. The witness has 

not finished. 

Q. That makes a possibility that there might have been 
two manual workers on the panel instead of one f A. I do 
not consider it that way. 

Q. Let us try one more. Let us take John Dunn Harri­
son. Do you finu lVIr. I-Iarrisou '! A. Yes. 
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Q. And what is 1fr. Harrison's occupation 1 A. It says 
inspection. 

The Court: Inspection"? 
The Witness: Inspection. 

Q. Did that indicate he was an inspector? A. Yes. 
Q. And he is an inspector for the New York Life In­

surance Company? A. Yes. 
Q. How did you classify 1\fr. Harrison? A. As a clerical 

worker. 
Q. Now take this alphabetical ;index of occupations, 

Exhibit 16: inspectors are listed from page 240 through 
245 where inspectr·es~ses begins. Tell me along the lines 
of leaning o-ver back\vards what the principal classification 
of all those inspectors are in. 

Mr. Sacher: I object to the form of the question 
''along the lines of leaning over backwards'' which 
makes the question objectionable. 

( 4675) Mr. Gordon: All right. I will withdraw 
it. 

The Court : I~t is cross-examination, but he is 
going to withdraw it. 

The Wrrtness: I did not look at the five pages of 
inspectors. I looked only at "Inspector" of in each 
thing. 

The Court: I thought you used the other book. 
The Witness: I have it here too. 
The Cour,t: But this time you looked in the 

other. 
The Witness: }Ie asked me to. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your IIonor misunderstood. She 

said she used mostly the alphabetical index but ·she is 
saying she used ~t not exclusively. 

The Witness: I did not use either exclusively. 
I preferred to work from the classified side, and on 
page 63 of the classified which I have just looked in, 
"Insurance 274", inspectors are again clerical. 

The Court: In this instance you used the Exhibit 
16, the big one~ 
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The Witness: In this instance I used the classi­
:fied, 17. 

The Court: In this case you used which bookf 
Did you say 17 or 161 

The Witness: 17, but I would like to say that on 
( 4676) all of this I used them interchangeably. 
When I found it easaer to find something in one of 
them I referred to it. If not, I used the other. All 
I can s.ay I had a personal preference for the classi­
fied because I found it easier to work with, because I 
was fan1iliar with it, but I used both. 

:Nir. Gordon: No further questions. 
Mr. Gladstein: Perhaps _Mr. Gordon can state 

to the Court if that is all of the so-called errors he 
has found in the analysis that covers 7500 people on 
petit jury panels and .a bout 5000 or so on the grand 
jury panels~ 

~1r. Gordon: The answer to that, your Honor, 
~s, in view of counsel's question, no, it is not all the 
error,s we have found. 

~fr. Gladstein: I suppose then we will have 
proof from the Government, including those people 
of the Census Bureau that have been here ev·er since 
Mr. Wilkerson go·t on the .stand, and-

The Court: 11r. Gladstein, there is no use start­
ing arguing again ·and making these statements. 

(Witness excused.) 

~fr. Gladstein: Judge Knox, please. 

(4677) JoHN CLARK KNox, called as a witness on be­
half of the defendants on the challenge, in rebuttal, being 
duly sworn, testified as follows: 

Direct examination by Mr. 8 acher: 

Q. Judge Knox, you are the Chief Judge of the South­
ern District of New York? A. I am. 

Q. And prior to your designation as Chief Judge by 
the New Judicial Code you were Senior Judge of the South~ 
ern District 1 A. Correct. 
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Q. For how many years have you been Senior and Chief 
Judge of this court? A. It was 30 the 29th of last ,Sep­
tember. 

Q. There came a time, did there not, Judge Knox, when 
you decided that the method of selection of jurors in this 
district required revamping1 A. To a greater or less 
e.xtent. 

Q. And can you tell us in what year that was 1 A. I 
cannot definitely. It was many years ago when Cornelius 
Smythe had resigned as an assistant United States attor­
ney and gone into practice, and I felt I needed a more care­
ful selection of jurors. 

Q. Would you say that Mr. Smythe was appointed as 
jury commissioner in this court some time in 1937 or 1938 T 
A. It is quite likely. Even before that, perhaps. 

Q. And did you also arrange for the appointment of 
( 4678) Mr. Joseph McKenzie as the deputy jury clerk of 
this court' A. I think I talked it over with Mr. Follmer 
and he was :finally selected. 

Q. And did you suggest the appointment of Mr. Mc­
Kenzie~ A. I do not recall I did. It may be it eventuated 
at the time of a talk I had with Mr. Follmer who was then 
the clerk of the court. 

Q. Do you recall an inquiry made in this court, Judge 
Knox, by Mr. Tolman of the Administrative Office of the 
United States Courts? A. I do. 

Q. And did you receive a copy of that report at any 
time1 A. I saw it. 

Q. Now I show you Exhibit 102 in this case and ask you 
whether this is the memorandum you refer toT A. I have 
no doubt it is. 

Q. Now solely to refresh your recollection, Judge Knox 
-I realize these events we are speaking of occurred some 
years ago-but in the Exhibit 102 on the :first page at the 
bottom it says : 

"The reform undertaken by Judge Knox de­
veloped along two lines: he proposed to see that the 
jurors examined were a better quality generally and 
he proposed to reduce the volume of excuses. He 
appointed as jury commissioner Cornelius J. 
Smythe, an attorney of excellent standing at the bar, 
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who ( 4679) has good business and social connec­
tions and \Vho is willing, as a public service, to give 
a large amount of time to the jury problem. 

''He also arranged for the appointment of a 
deputy jury clerk, an energetic young man of pleas­
ing manner, who is a good judge of character and 
has a thorough practical knowledge of the social, 
racial and economic groups of New York City and 
their geographic distribution, and Judge Knox. em­
phasizes particularly the importance of tho·se two 
men in the successful operation of the system. 

I ask you, Judge Knox, does that state the situation 7 
A. I think that is substantially correct. 

Q. You appeared, did you not, on behalf of the Judicial 
Council before a committee of the Judiciary of the House 
of Representatives of the 79th Congres.s on June 12 and 
13, 1945~ A. I won't say specifically that was the date. 
I was there. I remember Chairman Sommers was the 
~hairman at that time of the Judiciary Committee of the 
House. 

Q. And you appeared there in support, did you, of three 
bills which the Judicial Conference had drafted- A. Well, 
they did not draft them. Mr. Tolman and Mr. Shafroth 
and a number of other gentlemen participated ( 4680) 
in the drafting of those bills. They were then submitted to 
the Judicial Conference for their approval. 

Q. And subsequently after they were approved by the 
Judicial Conference they were introduced as bills in both 
the House and Senate~ A. That is correct. 

The Court: What was the nature of those bills, 
.Judge Knox 1 

The Witness: Well, they had to do with the ap­
pointment of the jury commissioners; also on the 
matter of selection. 

The Court: It had to do with the jury system T 
The Witness: That is correct, yes. 

. Q. I :ead you, Judge Knox, from page 12 of the pub­
hshed minutes of the hearing conducted on ,June 12 and 
13, 1945, before the House Judiciary Committee, and I will 
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ask you whether these statements were made by Mr. 
Springer, the Congressman from Indiana, and by yourself 
in response to his staternent, namely, as follows, Mr. 
Springer saying : 

''In your court you select the commissioner and 
the clerk. 

"Judge Knox: That is correct. I have a very 
able man who is commissioner. The jury lists were 
very bad a number of years ago, and they were made 
up of persons to whom I would not want to submit 
any ( 4681) litigation of my own. I thought they 
ought to be better. Things had run along for quite 
a number of years, and finally I appointed a man 
whon1 Congressman Celler undoubtedly knows very 
well, Cornelius Smythe, who used to be a United 
States attorney, who was deeply interested in jury 
work, and I appointed him commissioner and asked 
him to sec if he could not improve our juries.'' 

That also states the situation 1 A. To the best of my 
recollection. 

Q. The following statmnent appears at page 11 of the 
same minutes of the hearing before the House Judiciary 
Committee on J nne 12, 1945, as having been made by you, 
and I ask you, Judge Knox, whether you, in fact, made it, 
namely: 

"Notwithstanding these difficulties that face the 
courts in their efforts to secure competent and suit­
able jurors, I am told from time to time, that the 
selection of jurors .should be a democratic process 
and that persons who serve in the United States Dis­
trict Court for the Southern District of New York 
are hand-picked. In answer to that indictment, I 
cannot do otherwise than admit my guilt. Never­
theless, unless restrained by an authority to which 
I n1ust yield, jurors in my district will continue 
( 4682) to be hand-picked, and it will be done with 
care." 

I ask you whether you made that statement? A. I have 
not any doubt I did. 

LoneDissent.org



2463 

John Clark J{nox-for Defendants on Challenge­
Rebtttttal-Direct 

Q. And then 1fr. Springer said to you: "What do you 
mean 'hand-picked'~'' 

And did you reply: '·'We select them. We interview 
them to find out whether we feel they are qualified for in­
telligent, worthwhile jury service"1 

Do you recall that, .Judge Knox~ A. I have no reason 
to doubt I said it. 

Q. And do you recall Congressman Celler saying to 
you: 

"Do you not think that that phrase is rather improvi­
dent?" 

And that you replied: "I do not know. That is what 
they say about it. That is what they choose to call it. 

"Mr. Celler: I do not think it is as harsh as you really 
say." 

And then your reply is as follows : 

''Let me tell you why. 
"If, in making up our jury lists, my court were 

to follow suggestions that have been made to me, our 
panels would be filled not only with the halt, the 
lame, and the blind, but also with the venal and cor­
rupt. For example, men whom (4683) I respect 
have said that jurors should not be selected but 
should, willy-nilly, be taken from the voting regis­
ters. That suggestion was given a trial, and with 
this result: In some sections of the city more than 
20 per cent of the persons so summoned were found 
to be nonresidents of the buildings from which they 
were registered. A further large percentage was 
found to be made up of persons who only with diffi­
culty could speak and understand the English lan­
guage. Still others, while honest and intelligent, 
were proprietors of one-man business enterprises, 
to whom jury service \vould mean ruination. It 
turned out, consequently, that this method of re­
plenishing our jury lists \vas anything but success­
ful, and it was abandoned. I had the thought that 
in the district court the public was entitled to jurors 
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who were something more than election-day floaters, 
the habitues of district clubhouses, and the illiterate 
and ignorant.'' 

Do you remember making that statement1 A. Yes. 
Q. Did Congressman Springer immediately thereafter 

say: 
( 4684) "Before you go on, I would like to think 

a little more about this. The Federal courts get the 
list. Now, in the State courts they have jury com­
missioners.'' 

And you replied : 

"We have a jury commission in our court, made 
up of a jury commissioner so designated and of the 
clerk of the court.'' 

A. That is right. 
Q. Then did Mr. Springer say to you: 

'·'How do they make their selection 1" 

And did you reply as follows : 

"What they do is to interview people, get lists of 
names from business houses, consult directories of 
various kinds, telephone books, club directories, and 
trade journals that have the names of their members 
in them. They send out for these persons and ask 
them to come down to be interviewed, and they come 
in and we then find out something about their back­
ground, where they live, their age, their business 
experience, and form an estimate as they are exam­
ined as to whether or not they appear to be fair­
minded persons.'' 

Was that your statement at that tirne 1 A. That is right. 
( 4685) Q. And I take it that statement correctlv ex­

presses the practice at the time, is that right 1 A. A~s far 
as I can recall. 

Q. Now this last statement of yours, Judge Knox, that 
I have read you, stated, did it not, the system which you 
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substituted for that which you had said previously been 
abandoned? A. Substantially so. 

Q. Now can you give us some idea of the character of 
the business houses who submitted lists of names to you 
for jury service~ A. Well, that is a long time ago. I can­
not do it with any fair degree of accuracy, but I think one 
of them was the Consolidated Edison Company. 

Q. How about the New York Telephone Company? A. 
Possibly. 

Q. And the l\fetropolitan Life Insurance Company~ A. 
I cannot say that. 

Q. Were there any other banks, perhaps~ A. It may 
have been. I recall speaking to Mr. Smythe about it and 
he said he thought he would get some of those people to 
allow them to come down and allow them to receive their 
wages or pay or salary during the time they served. 

Q. Have you any idea at this time, Judge Knox, of the 
directories which were consulted for the names of jurors 1 
A. Only what I have been told. 

( 4686) Q. Told by persons connected with the selec­
tion of jurors¥ A. Yes. 

Q. Whose duty it was to select and to inform you of 
their number, is that right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Will you therefore be good enough to tell us what 
directories you were told were used for this purpose? 

.Nfr. Gordon: It is objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. 
~Ir. Sacher: May I just ask a question, your 

Honor? 
The Court : You have asked a number of ques­

tions about things that were said and so on, but I 
would suppose it would be better to inquire as to 
the facts that were within the knowledge of the wit­
ness, but, however, I think it better to let you go 
along. 

l\1r. Sacher: Judge Knox has said his informa­
tion as to the character of the directories comes 
from people charged with the effectuation of the 
selection of the jurors and whose duties also include 
reporting to him as to their performance of their 
duties. 
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The Court: I think it better to inquire as to 
what he had knowledge of and what he did, if you 
care to. 

Q. Do you know whether the Social Register was one 
of the directories which was consulted? A. I have heard 
it, but I never saw it myself that I recall. 

( 4687) Q. Do you know whether Who's Who in New 
York was one of the sources~ A. I should imagine so. 

Q. And college alumni directories 1 A. I have been told 
that. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, this line of examina­
tion pertains to information that somebody else told 
to the Judge. Now it appears that the people who 
were concerned with sending the notices out have 
been here as witnesses and examined at length, and 
the objection is to asking Judge Knox to search his 
recollection. 

The Court : I think Mr. Sacher will get around 
in a minute or two to asking Judge Knox what he 
actually did and what he has personal knowledge of. 
I will allow a limited amount of this. 

Q. Now you mentioned also, Judge Knox, in your tes­
timony which I read a moment ago, club directories. Will 
you be kind enough to tell us what kind of club directories 
those were? A. I understood they were social clubs around 
New York, or business clubs. I never inquired into what 
they were in detail. I was anxious to get a cross-section 
of people. 

Q. Now you also referred to trade journals that have 
the names of their members in them, is that right 1 A. I 
mentioned that and that is only on information and belief. 

( 4688) Q. Those trade journals-

The Court : What did you mean, Judge Knox, 
when you said you wanted to get a cross-section? 

The \Vitness: Because there were a great many 
people in New York who did no jury service at all 
and I was anxious to see to it that you had a cross­
section of representation of the population of New 
York on those jury lists. 
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Q. Is it tr~e to say, Judge ~nox, that in neithe~ the 
directories whiCh you have mentioned nor the trade JOur­
nals would be likely to get manual workers or Negro citi­
zens among those who were to be found in those sources~ 

::\Ir. :McGohey: I object to the question, your 
Honor; first as to the form of it. 

1tfr. Sacher: I asked for the witness's knowl-
edge. 

·1rr. :McGohey: The witness has not testified he 
examined the list. 

The Court: That is right. I will allow it never-
theless. 

A. In some, I suppose, you would get persons who were, 
let us say, in the lower economic groups, depending upon 
what the trade records were. 

Q. Which would those be, Judge Knox~ A. Oh, I don't 
know. I cannot name any of them specifically as far as 
that is concerned, but I have the impression that a great 
( 4689) many industries have club.s that have their mem­
bers listed. 

Q. Now you would not expect to find manual workers 
and Negroes in the social and business club directories that 
you referred to a moment ago, would you~ 

::\fr. :McGohey: I object to the question, your 
Honor. It is argumentative and again the witness 
has testified he did not use any of those documents. 

The Court : Yes. 
. ::\Ir. Sacher: I want to renounce any implication 
Judge Knox used any of those sources himself. The 
evidence shows who used them, but the point is I 
just want to ask-

The Court: I think it is important to get from 
Judge Knox testimony about 1natters that he person­
ally did and had personal knowledge of. I felt it was 
all right to let you go along for a while and have 
these statements and things of that kind but I would 
suggest you get down now to what Judge Knox ac­
tu.ally did, but I do not insist upon it. Perhaps you 
Will con1e to it in time. 
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Mr. Sacher: I just wish to make the observation, 
your Honor, that intent is one of the decisive ele­
ments of this case and I am trying by this means 
of inquiry to establish the intent of the system which 
Judge Knox says he initiated with the appointment 
of Mr. Smythe. 

The Court: Well, I think it might be a good 
(4690) idea sometime to ask him what he did about 
initiating it, but perhaps you would not want to ask 
him that. 

Q. Well, Judge I(nox, is it not a fact, that you appeared 
in April, 1947, approximately two years after your appear­
ance before the House Judiciary Committee, before a Sen­
ate Subcommittee on the Judiciary and gave testimony 
once a~ain in support of the same bills on behalf of which 
you had spoken before the House Committee, is that right? 
A. That is true. 

Q. And is it also true that at the 1947 hearing, in April 
of that year, you said, in words identical with those that 
you had used two years before before the House Judiciary 
Committee the following: 

''Notwithstanding these difficulties that face the 
courts in their efforts to secure competent and suit­
able jurors, I am told from time to time that the 
.selection of jurors should be a democratic process 
and that persons who serve in the Ulnited States Dis­
trict Court for the Southern District of New York 
are hand-picked. 

''In answer to this indictment, I cannot do other­
\Vise than admit my guilt. Nevertheless, unless re­
strained by an authority to which I must yield, jur­
ors in my district will continue to be hand-picked, 
and it will be done with care.'' 

( 4691) Is that correct~ A. I made that .statement un­
doubtedly. 

Q. Kow I understand, Judge Knox, that for a third 
time, if not more, that same statement was made before 
some n1embers of the bar in Uniontown, Pennsylvania, in 
January of this year? A. That is true. 
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Q. In fact it was made while the trial of this challenge 
'vas in progress, is that right7 A. Through a fortuitous 
circumstance. 

Q. May I ask you to be kind enough, if you have it with 
you, the text of the Uniontown speech- A. Part of it. A 
few pages vvere lost in my bag being crowded with my 
clothes, but I have endeavored to find a copy to supply the 
portion that was missing. This is it (handing). This is 
the text from which I read at Uniontown. A few of these 
front pages are missing. 

Q. May I hold this to read during the lunch hour so 
I need not take the time of the Court at this moment¥ A. 
Surely. 

.Mr. Sacher: Is it agreeable to the Court~ 
The Court: I think if you would not pay so 

much attention to earlier statements and ask the 
witness what he did we would get some facts which 
would be a little better, but I suppose you have to 
follow the way you have ( 4692) done all along 
and travel around the periphery first. 

Q. Now, .Judge Knox, in the course of the hearing be­
fore the Subcommittee on the Judiciary in the Senate the 
following took place, did it not, at page 87, of the Senate 
document which reports the hearings 1 

Mr. McGahey: This is in 1947~ 
Th1r. Sacher: 1947, right. 

Q. (Continuing) A Mr. Burdick who appeared at the 
hearing said, did he not : 

'' ~fy argument ceases just as soon as you can 
contrive a method by which you can get a cross sec­
tion of the countrv into that box. Then I am all 
through. I think that is all we need. '' 

And did you not, .Judge Knox, in response to that state­
ment, say the following: 

"We have in New York great portions of the 
population-Negro, immigrant, and what not. Now, 
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among those Negroes and among these others are 
many people who are competent, and we have them 
upon our juries. But if you went down there with 
a dragnet and attempted to bring them into a court­
room, you would have a result that no one would 
wish.'' 

Did you say that~ A. I did. 
Q. Who are the "what nots'' that are referred to 

( 4693) in that .statement '·'Negro, immigrant and what 
not''~ A. That is just a matter of expression. 

Q. What did that express? A. Nothing, only that there 
are people in those groups around New York. 

Q. Did you mean to draw a distinction between Negroes, 
immigrants and what nots and other sections. A. Not at 
all if they were qualified jurors. 

Q. Would you not think if you went with a dragnet 
through any group of people in New York that you might 
come up, as you .said, with a result that no one would wish' 
A. That is correct. 

Q. Why did you single out Negroes, immigrants and 
what nots for mention? A. Just a matter of illustration. 

The Court: By the way, Judge Knox, is there 
a large criminal population here in the City of New 
York~ 

The Witness: In considerable number, I should 
think. 

Q. Judge Knox, you are the author of this book "A 
Judge Comes of Age''? A. I am. 

Q. And do you recall having written-

Mr. Sacher: I would like to offer this book in 
evidence, but it comes from the Public Library. I 
would just want to read-

The Court: You know if objection were made I 
would sustain it to all these statements. I cannot 
(4694) see what statements made have to do with 
this. This is not a case where you have .some charge 
as to which the statements of parties are involved. 
Here is a witness who has some personal knowledge. 
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It seems to me that the interrogation should follow 
the lines of what he saw and what he did. And I 
have just sat by because there was no objection, and 
I supposed all these matters are matters of public 
knowledge anyway, but all I am interested in is the 
facts, and I hope I get them before too many more 
readings from books and speeches and things of 
that kind, but I will let you go on. 

Mr. Sacher: ~1ay I briefly state to the Court 
the following: that if the so-called objective or phys­
ical facts were alone decisive of the issue under trial 
then I think your Honor's observations wo11ld be ut­
terly unexceptional, but the Supreme Court requires, 
as you know, whatever discrimination be claimed, 
or whatever exclusions of groups or classes are 
claimed, must be shown to be deliberate, systematic 
and intentional, and this phase of the inquiry is ad­
dressed to the establishment of the second, the men­
tal aspect. 

The Court : I think I will insist upon knowing 
now what it was that Judge Knox really had to do 
with this system. I have tried not to interrupt you 
here or regulate this proof, but it seems to me that 
we must ( 4695) come to a time when evasive 
facts must be brought out. Why don't you ask 
what he did have to do with it~ 

Mr. Sacher : Well, your Honor, I am going to 
say only one thing: at page 250 of Judge Knox's 
book-

Mr. McGohey: Now, if your Honor please, I ob­
ject to counsel reading anything that is being quoted 
or described in the book which Judge Knox wrote. 
I have not, although I realize there was legal basis 
on which objection could be made to the examina­
tion, or what, in fact, has been a cross-exam­
ination of Judge Knox upon testimony that he gave 
before a Senate Committee or a Congressional Com­
mittee, or even ,something that was as widely re­
ported in the press as the speech he made at Union­
~own, because those were matters of general public 
Interest, but I am now going to object to cross­
examination of Judge Knox, or any other witness, 
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about some book he wrote some years ago because 
it is utterly irrelevant and immaterial to the issue 
on trial. 

If the question of intent has to be gone into, your 
Honor, I submit in the seventh week of this chal­
lenge what has been proven by the defendants them­
selves is that there is not any, that they have not 
sustained their charge, but they proven even the 
converse. They have proved by their witnesses and 
they have proved by their exhibits and by their own 
cross-examination of ( 4696) the officials of this 
court that there are women and that there are Jews 
and that there are Negroes and that there are work­
ers serving on these juries and they have utterly 
failed, even with long cross-examination, to show 
that there is any systematic exclusion. 

All talk about intent upon the part of Judge 
Knox in order to show that a systematical exclu­
sion has been made seems to me to be silly when the 
state of the proof is that there is no exclusion and 
I object to any examination upon any books written 
by Judge Knox or anybody else. 

The Court: I will sustain the part about the 
book. 

Mr. Gladstein: I object to the Court permitting 
Mr. McGohey-

The Court: I do not desire to hear argument. 
You know, Mr. Gladstein, when a lawyer on one 
side of the case objects to something that his own 
colleague does, if you are objecting to Mr. Sacher's 
question I don't quite see what can be gained by 
pressing such an objection. There is something else 
you object to~ 

Mr. Gladstein: I want to object to the Court 
permitting Mr. McGohey, contrary to the ruling the 
Court announced applicable to us, to go ahead and 
make a speech in purported support of an objec­
tion after your Honor ( 4697) has said you are 
not hearing any argument on objections and you 
have prevented us from stating the basis of our 
proof and offer of proof and even to offer your 
Honor the decisions of higher courts that support 
our position. 
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The Court: Please let us just drop the matter 
of argnuiCnt there. Put your next question. 

Q. Now, Judge l{nox, did you hav~ any conyersat~ons 
with Judn·e Sm\·the at the ti1ne you designated him as Jury 
commissi~nerf ·A. Oh, I haYe no doubt I did. 

Q. And do you have a recollection of your discussions 
with hin1 concerning- A. Oh, we talked over the general 
jurv situation. 
' ·Q. I have not put a question yet, ~ udge: ! o~ will for­
give rne. It is that we arc nuder a time hm1tahon and I 
am trying· to speed jt along as Juuch as I ?an. J?o you ha.ve 
any idea, .T udge Knox, as to the economiC, soCial or raCial 
compo~ition of the grand jury list in the Southern District 
of N e\V York! A. Not specifically. I have seen a good many 
grand ;jurors' lists and found upon them a number of people 
from various sections of the city. 

Q. Can you say how many of them on any of those lists 
were manual workers? A. I cannot. 

Q. Now you yourself have had a constant concern, have 
you not, with the cornposition, not only of the petit ( 4698) 
jury panels, hut with those of grand jurors, isn't that so, 
.fudge J(nox? A. To a greater or less extent. 

Q. Is it not a fact, .Judge l{nox, that the overwhelming 
majority nwmbers of the grand jury panels, or grand jury 
lists, rather, consist of men \vho are business men f A. I 
~hould guess that to be correct. 

Q. Do you kno\v of a single instance in the last ten 
years in which a manual worker, ·working for wages, other 
than a n1anual worker employed by the N evr York Tele­
phone Compan~', Consolidated Edison Company or I\ietro­
polita~ Lif~ Insurance Company, was selected to be a grand 
.1uror In tlus court~ 

. :.\f r. Gordon:. Objected to, your Honor. The 
w1tness has testified he \Vas not able to tell how 
many manual ·workers \Yere on the jury. 

The. Court: Yes: How is a judge who sees a 
grand Jury before lum to know, Mr. Sacher, wheth­
er the man \~orks for a daily wage or \vhether he 
works for tlus or that? I don't see how I could 
tell. As to a matter whether there were Negroes 
there I suppose I could tell that. 
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(4700) 

Mr. Sacher: I have not addressed myself to that 
yet, Judge. 

The Court: I know you have not, and I am 
frank to say that I do not know how to judge, by 
looking ( 4699) at a grand jury panel, or a grand 
jury, I could tell those things. I will sustain the 
objection. 

Mr. Sacher: I wish you would just permit me 
a moment, and that is this: Judge Knox, it seems 
to me, would have equal difficulty in knowing wheth­
er the man is a business man and as he testified a 
moment ago that the majority were business men, 
how did he know that~ 

Mr. McGohey: I submit that is not the testi­
mony of Judge Knox. He said he would not be 
surprised. 

The Court: The form of the question, of course, 
,speaks for itself. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, the rec­
ords of this court will show-

Mr. Sacher: I object to what the records will 
show. I am being awfully nice to him today and I 
don't think he ought to provoke me. 

The Court: You are a different man today I 
will say. You deserve a good deal of credit for 
your quiet and respectful demeanor this morning. 

Now we will take a recess until 2.15, not the 
usual 2.30 recess. I am keeping very careful track 
of the time. 

(Recess to 2.15 p. m.) 

AFTER.NOON SESSION 

JOHN CLARK KNox, resumed the .stand. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Judge Kno:x, at the close of the morning session 
some question arose as to whether you did or did not know 
that the preponderance of members of the grand jury list 
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are business men, and in that connection I ask you whether 
you made a speech or an address at the annual meeting of 
the Federal Grand Jury Association for the year ending 
October 31, 1943, of which I show you a photostatic copy 
in the Federal Juror of February 1944 (handing)? A. I 
think so; I have no doubt of it. (Handing to Mr. Sacher.) 

Q. It is true to say, is it not, that the statements you 
made in that speech were statements based on your knowl­
edge~ A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall making this statement in addressing 
the Association: ''Each of you occupies a prominent place 
jn this community"--

J\fr. l\'fcGohey: If your Honor please, I object 
to reacting anytlling from this document. If it is 
going to be offered in evidence let us find out if it 
is going to he admissible. 

Mr. Sacher: All right, I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: I object to it. 
(4701) The Court: Objection sustained. 
l\tfr. Sacher: Will your Honor hear me at all 

on this~ 
The Court: No, l\1r! Sacher. I told you thiR 

morning that statements, whether they are in 
speeches or books or -w~herever they may be, are not, 
in my view, con1petent evidence. I think it is better 
now to address yourself to the facts, to ask the wit­
ness on matters of which he has personal knowl­
edge. 

1\tfr. Sacher: But the Judge-
The Court: Not the matter of the speeches and 

the books and things of that kind. Now you have 
done quite a little of that, and I think it is better 
for you now to address yourself to things that the 
witness actually did and what he saw and observed. 
You know, that word "know" we have had that 
come up two or three times already, and it is very 
easy for a person to say that he knows this or that 
when all he means by it is that he has been informed 
by somebody that that is a fact. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor­
The Court : I suggest-
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Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I wasn't present at 
the discovery of America but I believe with all the 
faith I have that Christopher Columbus discovered 
it in 1492. 

(4702) The Court: Well, I will strike that re­
mark out. 

Mr. Sacher: But I ·would like to make one brief 
observation-

The Court: I will rule now, l\fr. Sacher, that 
you should address yourself to questions within the 
witness's knowledge of what he observed, and that 
you leave for the moment the matter of speeches 
and addresses and things of that kind which I feel 
are entirely inco1npetent and inadmissible. 

l\£r. Sacher: :l\£ay I just say one sentence in re­
sponse to that, your Honor? 

The Court: No, Mr. Sacher. I think you had 
better-

Mr. Sacher: All right. 
The Court: -accommodate yourself to my di­

rections. 
Mr. Sacher: May I ask that Judge Knox's 

.speech be marked for identification? 
The Court : You may. 
The Clerk: Is that February 1944? 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
The Clerk: I believe jt is 300 for identification. 

February 1944 ~ 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
( 4703) The Clerk: It is Exhibit 300 for iden­

tification. 
Mr. Sacher: All right, then I withdraw the re­

quest to mark it for identification. 
May I just invite your Honor's attention, with­

out mentioning the words, to the columns in which 
the language that I have referred to are involved 1 

The Court: You may do that, yes. 
l\fr. Sacher: It refers to page 5 of that issue of 

the Federal Juror and covers the next to the last 
sentence in the first column to the left on page 5, 
and also the entire second column-well, I needn't 
specify it. I suggest that the whole speech be read 
by the Court. 
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nfr. Gordon: vVhich covers practically all of 
page 5, your Honor. 

~Ir. Sacher: That is right. 

By jlir. Sacher: 

Q. Is it true to say, Judge Knox, that you invited 
Judge Smythe to assume the position of jury commissioner 
in this court 0? A. I don't recall the exact conversation but 
1 should think that that is a fair inference. 

Q. And did yoa e01mnunicate then to :Mr. Sn1ythe your 
objections to the method of jury selection which was in 
vogue and that you desired a new method of selection of 
jurors? A. I won't say exactly a new method of selection; 
I wanted the juries improved. 

(4704) Q. Now is it true to say that one of the objec­
tions you had to the jury panels which V~rere called in this 
court prior to J\1r. Sn1ythe 's advent was that son1e of them 
consisted of unemployed workers? A. That is one rea­
son. 

Q. And was it not another reason that these jurors 
showed a tendency to decide against einployers when em­
ployers ·were parties to the suits? A. I drew that con­
clusion. 

Q. You did believe that, is that right? A. That lli 
right. 

Q. As a matter of fact, you said so at page 241 of your 
book entitled ''A Judge Comes of ~~ge, '' is that right~ 
A. I wouldn't remen1ber. 

1Ir. McGohey: If your Honor please, I object 
to any reference to the book. First of all, it is not 
in evidence. 

The Court: I will sustain the objection. 

Q. Is it not equally true that if you have a preponder­
a~ce of business men on grand and petit jurieB that they 
Wl~l decide against workers when workers are parties to 
Sluts that co1ne before them 1 

. :Mr. McGohey: I object, your Honor, and I ob­
Ject to the-
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The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. :McGohey: --fonn of tho question, and I 

(4705) object to the cross-examination of Mr. 
Sacher's witnes~s. 

The Court: Objection sustained. 

Q. Did you also, .Judge Knox, have a discussion with 
Mr. Follmer, the then clerk of the court, in respect -to the 
modification of the 1nethods of selection of jurors in this 
court~ A. I have no doubt I did; I don't recall it specifically. 

Q. l\tfay I ask you thi!5, Judge l(nox, which of the jury 
lists was it in respect to which you were concerned in re­
spect to the nwthod of selection~ \Vas it the grand jury 
list or the petit jury list or both~ A. I should say both. 

1Ir. Sacher: \Vill you indulge rne just a rnoment, 
your Honor? 

(J\Tr. Sacher exan1ines papers.) 

Q. Judge Knox, I ~hould like to show you the text of 
what purports to be a speech made by you in l\1arch 1931 
to the Federal Grand Jurors Association and ask you to 
look at page 13 of the-I beg your pardon, the speech, 
I think, appears to have been made in .T anuary 1931 and 
is published in March 1931. Do you recall that, Judge f 
A. No, not offhand. 

Q. Will you be kind enough to look at it and then direct 
your attention to the third colurnn on page 3 and tell 
me whether that refreshes your recollection as ( 4706) 
to whether you had any problems concerning the selection 
of juror~ for the grand jury as far back as 1931 (handing)~ 
A. (After examining) 1 have no doubt I said that. 

The Court: Well, the question is whether you 
had problems at that time with reference to the 
grand jurors. 

The \Vitness: Not specifically that I recall. 'Vhat 
I had in mind was that grand jury service was much 
easier than petit jury service and I sought to have 
the grand jury, if they could help find some people 
who would LServe on petit juries as petit jurors. 
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Q. Isn't it a fact, Judge I{nox, that you acknowledged 
in that speech to the Federal Grand Jury Association 
that-

~[r. Sacher: nir. ::McGohey, that pencil looks 
awfully n1enacing. Will you just let me finish~ 

Th~ Court: Well, he means that he is going to 
object, and the question is objectionable all right, no 
matter what you finish it up with. 

Mr. Sacher: \Veil, may I offer Judge Knox's 
speech in evidence~ 

11r. 11cGohey: I object. 
The Court: Objection slllitained. 
Mr. Sacher: Doesn't your Honor wish to see it 

( 4707) at all~ 
The Court: I have ruled, Mr. Sacher,­
Mr. Sacher: I kno-w. 
The Court: -that statements that are made 

by a witness here are not admissible or competent. 
You seen1 to be of the impression that this is a case 
in which the witness here is a party to the proceed­
ings, just as though some sta tmnent by one of the 
defendants who were indicted here was brought in, 
and I am telling you that ·what the witneLSs may 
say out of court, whether it is in a speech or in a 
book or what not, is not competent proof. 

1\Ir. Sacher: I take it that your Honor won't 
listen to a sentence or two from me in justification 
of the question, just by way of explanation, to say 
this-

The Court : vV ell, all right. 
1Ir. Sacher: It is not in the sense that Judge 

Knox is an advem;ary party. That is not the thesis 
at all. The point is that by la'\v that he, as senior 
judge formerly and chief judge now, is charged 
with the Pesponsibility and has exercised the re­
sponsibility in discharging it, of ad1ninistering or 
supervising it or over:seeing the selection of jurors 
in this district and-

The Court: But you see-
( 4708) Mr. Sacher : -and if he had said at 

an earlier time that he had no problem with the 
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grand jury, that they were made of substance, et 
cetera, and that he \vas asking their assistance in 
the selection of petit jurors, then I think it is proper 
to point it out to ~T udgo l(nox, not for tho purpose 
of irnpeaching hiln, of course not, but for the pur­
pose of refreshing his recollection. 

The Court: N O"\V you go on so long that l lose 
the trend. 1 rernmnber only a few \Yeeks ago, as 
time goes in this trial, that it was argued by you, 
or one of your colleagues, that there wa~3 a series 
of errors, first, that Judge l(nox had no right to 
do anything \vith the systen1 under the law, and 
that if he did that was wrong; and then also that 
·with reference to all of the judges they had a duty, 
and if they did not do it, that was wrong; and also 
c·ertain clairns that you made with referE'nce to what 
the clerks did. Now it seen1s to n1e that it is about 
tin1e to get down to jmst what ~Judge Knox did do 
instead of having what speeches he n1ade an<i what 
he said and \vhat the talk was. l an1 verv much 
interested to hear ·what the facts are, and ·I hope 
you will get around to that. 

1\:fr. 1IcGohey: Just one thing n1ore, your Honor. 
May I call your Honor's attontl.on to the fact that 
Mr. Sacher is talking about something that was 
published ( 4709) in 1\farch of 1931. 

Mr. Sacher: That is right. 
1\fr. l\IcGohey: Almost ten yeans beyond the 

period which is covered in the challenge. 
The Court: I know. It is the old storv of 

getting all around the periphery of the subject in­
stead of getting right at the basic facts. Now T am 
very n1uch interested, as I have said, to know just 
what it was that .Judge l(nox did and just what it 
was that he ohserv·ed, if he saw the juries and sa,,~ 
then1 assen1bled and made certain observations, all 
right; if he gave certain directions, let us have \vhat 
the directions were that he gave. Let us get at 
that instead of all the talk about what ho said here 
and there which, as I have repeatedly said, is not 
con1petent and j1s not any substantial evidence in the 
case. 
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l\fr. Sacher: :.May I have the March 1931 issue 
of the Federal Juror marked for identification f 

( .l\Iarked Defendants' ChallengB FJxhibit 396 for 
identification.) 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. There can1e a time, did there not, Judge Knox, in 
September 1941 when the ~Judicial Conference directBd that 
a survey be rnade of the operation of the jury system in 
the various federal courts throughout the country; ( 4710) 
is that right u? A. 'That is right. 

Q. You were the chr.irman of a connnittee of five judges 
appointed by the J udieial Conference to n1ake that survey1 
A. I still arn. 

Q ... A .. nd did the cornmittee, in the diJScharge of its duties, 
adopt certain rnethods for obtaining the facts concerning 
the nwthods of selection of jurors in the federal courts 1 
A. "\Ve did. 

Q. By the way, the ~Judicial Conference is an insti­
tution established by the ~Judiciary Law of the United 
States, is it not"? A. \Veil, by sorr1e one statute-I have 
forgotten whether it is the Judiciary Law or not. 

Q. Did your con1mittee prepare que~tionnaires which 
·were sent out to the various clerks of the court and the 
jury commissioners in the various district courts through­
out the country~ A. It did. 

Q. And were replies received by your committee fron1 
the various clerks and jury con1n1issioners 7 .A .. A large 
nmnber of thern. 

Q. And iJS it true to say that the return of thes·e an­
swers to your questionnaire was made in response to a 
duty on the part of thB jury connnissioners and the court 
clerks to provide your cornn1ittee "\vith the information 
that you sought 1 A. vVe sought information from them 
as to what their practices were in their respective ( 4711) 
diJ3tricts. 

Q. There was nothing secret or confidential about those 
practices, was there~ 
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Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. Isn't that a matter on 

which we have heard from the head of the Adminis­
trative Offiee, Mr. Sacher~ 

Mr. Sacher: Oh, I think the chief judge of this 
district, the chairman of that cornmittee, has a much 
weightier opinion to give on that subject than Mr. 
Chandler. 

Mr. Gladstein: Let the record show that the 
witnesl8 started to answer the question by shaking 
his hand-

Mr. Sacher: His head. 
Mr. Gladstein: -his head, to reply in the nega-

tive. 
The Court: Well, l noticed no such thing. 
Mr. :NicGohey: Nor did I, your Honor. 
Mr. Gladstein: "Vell, I was looking at the wit­

ness, and perhaps the r·eason neither of you did not 
see him is because-

Mr. Sacher: Well, I wats looking at the witness, 
too, and saw the same thing, and the ·witness is here, 
by the way, to testify whether he did or not. 

( 4712) The Court: Well, I have sustained the 
objection. It is my understanding that that rnatter 
was placed before me by Mr. Chandler, and I have 
ruled that certain matters were confidential in con­
nection with the administration of justice, and I have 
followed what I thought was a proper tstatement by 
Mr. Chandler on the subject. N ovv you gentlemen 
took your exception to that, and if I am wrong-, why, 
there it is. I decided it as I thought I should. 

Q. Did you suggest to Mr. Follmer or Mr. Brnythe the 
use of any selecting sources for the purpose of obtaining 
the names of potential jurors 1 A. I don't recall that I 
did, but it is quite poBsible. 

Q. It is quite possible that you did~ A. Yes. 
Q. Ar·e you familiar with the fact that the address tele­

phone book has been used for a good many years in this 
court house~ A. I have been told so. 
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Q ... A .. nd is it not a fact that the use of that addre!Ss 
telephone book was initiated at your suggestion beginning 
·with son1e ti1ne after 19:-37 '? .. A.. 1 don't recall it but I 
am-but it is not impossible. 

Q . .r\.nd was it not the purpose of using the address 
telephone book so a~S to select the narnes of people in the 
so-called better neighborhoods 1 

(4713) 1\Ir. :McGolH:~y: I object to that char­
acterization, your l-lonor. 

The Court: I will sustain that. The witness 
has not stated that he did suggest that, so I suppose 
you are asking for hiL:;; purpose about something that 
he didn't do. 

Mr. Sacher: \Veil, he doesn't say that he did 
not do it. He said it is possible that he did. 

:Mr. ~M~cGohey: Not for that purpose. 
The Court: And when he has no recollection as 

to whether a thing is done, I consider it improper to 
ask what the purpose vvas. 

Q. Do you knovv what the purpol3e of the address tele­
phone book ·was used in this court for, in the matter of 
obtaining the nanws of potential jurors~ 

Mr. 1IcGohey: I object, your Honor. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Do you know whether the Social Register was used 
for the purpose of obtaining the nan1es of pot,ential jurors 1 
A. I answered this rnorning that I had heard so. 

Q. From whom did you hear 1so ~ 

1\tfr. McGohey: I object. 

A. I think-

The Court: I will allow it. 

A. I think I read it in the Tolman report back in ( 4714) 
1941 or thereabouts. 

Q. And you attached enough credence to that report 
to believe it, is that right~ A. Oh,-
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J\rlr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court; Sustained. 

Q. Who sent you a copy of the Tolman report 1 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you ever take any issue '.vi th anything contained 
in the Tolman report? 

lVIr. nicGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher : Your I-Ionor, in view of your rul­

ings you rnake it irnpossible for me to continue to 
examine this witness, and in that situation I have 
no alternative but to cease rny examination, with 
an appropriate exception to all of your rulings. 

The Court: Very well. 
Mr. Glaootein: I desire to say that I also have 

exan1ination of Judge Knox that I would like to 
present, to pursue here, particularly with respect 
to the connections between Judge Knox and the 
Federal Grand Jury Association, and a number of 
other vital matters, including such things as the plac­
ing of the letter C on the history cards and other 
cards of colored people-

( 4 715) The Court: You had better ask him 
the questions then. 

J\1:r. Gladstein: I arn unable to do so for the 
reason that we have other witnesses, including one 
that we brought here from Florida, and it will be 
impossible for us to put on all of the testilnony that 
we want to put on before the closing hour, in ac­
cordance with your Honor's order, so I therefore 
refrain from examining Judge Knox for those rea­
sons. 

The Court : Very well. 
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Cross examination by Mr. JVI eGo hey: 

Q. Judge Knox, there was reference today in the ex­
amination by 1Y1r. Sacher to some answers that you made 
to certain questions in your testimony before the com­
mittee on the Judiciary of the House of Representatives 
of the 79th Congress, July 12th and 13th, 1945, and I should 
like to call your fionor's attention to this question by 
lvfr. Springer, and to an answer, which appears here as 
yours: 

"1\Ir. Springer: To what exent do you get work­
ing people and farmers on your juries 1 

''Judge Knox: We try to get them as best we 
can, and \Ve have a great many of them; many peo­
ple, for example, who are superintendents of apart­
ment houses, the 1nan who looks after the locks, and 
things ( 4716) of that sort. He is an intelligent 
person. It has been very difficult in recent years to 
get working men from the war industries for two 
reasons. One, that it would impose a financial sacri­
fice upon then1; and the second was that it would 
interfere with war production, and the number of 
persons of that class serving in recent years since 
the war began would not be as great as it was or 
ordinarily would be.'' 

Do you recall in substance making that answer~ A. 
I do. 

Q. And then this question by n1"r. Springer: 

'' 1\fr. Springer: You talk about permanent legis­
lation. "'\Ve hope this war will be over one of these 
days, and we have to think in terms of peace and 
normal conditions.'' 

To which you replied: 

"Judge Knox : What we have in mind is that 
every economic and social group in the community 
shall be represented upon the jury list.'' 
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Did you make substantially that answer, Judge l{nox! 
A. Yes. 

Q. And is that not so today7 A. That is my intention 
and purpose, to the best of rny ability. 

Q. Now there was an answer read by Mr. Sacher from 
(4717) your testimony before a sub-cornmittee of the Com­
mittee on the Judiciary of the United States Senate, 80th 
Congress, First Session, on either April 23rd or 24th in 
1947. lYir. Sacher read part of it. vVhat l\1:r. Sacher read 
was this: 

"We have in New York great portions of the pop­
ulation-Negro, irnmigrant, and what not. Now, 
among those Negroes and arnong these others are 
many people who are competent, and \Ve have them 
upon our juries. But if you went down there vYith 
a dragnet and attempted to bring thern into a court­
room, you would have a re!Sult that no one ·would 
wish.'' 

This remaining part of the answer was not read: 

"What we have in mind here is that the jury 
commissioner will see these men who are sunl­
moned for juries and talk to them and find out if 
they are responsible persons. Their names will go 
into the box. 

''Now we have some 12,000 persons on our jury 
list now.'' 

Mr. Sacher: You read that wrong. ''Now we 
have over 12,000.'' 

Mr. ~1cGohey: "Now we have over 12,000 per­
sons on our jury list now.'' 

Q. (Continued): 

"We are trying to increase that (4718) to 
double that number, so that we will have a great 
mass of people who are eligible for jury service 
whose qualifications have been examined, and who 
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may be looked upon as fair and decent citizens, com­
prising every section of the social and political struc­
ture of the country. Now, that is what we are trying 
to do. We are not trying to fill a jury box or to 
throw a case any particular way. It would be al­
most impossible, because out of this great mass of 
names that are taken, and all these cards that are 
put into the box, you have a situation in which, as 
a practical proposition, no jury can be fixed under 
that procedure that is followed. 

''Senator Langer: Thank you very much, In-
deed, 1\ir. Wood. 

"Mr. Wood: Thank you, sir." 
Mr. Sacher: He said that to Mr. Wood. 
Mr. l\IcGohey: That is right, but the answer 

appears to be Judge Knox's. 

Q. And I ask you, Judge Knox, if that isn't in sub­
stance what you testified, and isn't that in substance today 
what is sought to be accomplished~ A. Yes. 

l\ir. Sacher: I object to the last half of the ques­
tion. 

( 4719) The Court: Overruled. 

A. That is right. 
Q. N O"\V Judge J(nox, I note in the volume of the United 

States Reports, Volume 328, page 224, which is part of 
the opinion of Mr. Justice Murphy in the case of Theil 
vs. Southern Pacific C01npany, that Mr. Justice Murphy 
in a footnote quotes the following from your testimony 
before Congress : 

''when jurors' c01npensation is limited to four dol­
lars per day, and "\vhen their periods of service are 
often protracted, thousands upon thousands of per­
sons simply cannot afford to .serve. To require them 
to do so is nothing less than the imposition upon 
them of extreme hardship.'' 
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I ask you, Judge Knox, was that statement which is 
quoted by 1rlr. Justice 11urphy based upon your experience 
as a judge for many years in this court? .L\. Yes. 

Q. Now, Judge Knox, as part of your duties as the 
chief judge, you undertake to preside at the examination 
of the panel of jurors each time a panel conws in at the 
beginning of the month? A. I did for n1any years but 
owing to illness in 1ny family I have been unable to do it 
in the past year. 

Q. But up until this year you have been doing it almost 
(4720) exclusively~ A. Yes. 

The Court: ·up until the parst year. 
l\llr. McGohey: That is what I say, up until 

the past year. 

Q. Now in performing that part of your duty, it con­
sists in large part of exa1nining the excuses that are offered 
by persons who desire to be excused from service? A. 
Correct. 

Q. And from the excuses which have been offered can 
you tell whether the persons who appear on the panels 
are working men? A. Some of then1 are. 

Q. And can you tell whether or not there are women 
in those panels? A. Yes. 

Q. That is, since women have been- A. Yes. 
Q. -authorized by law to serve on juries in New York? 

A. That is correct. Frequently-
Q. And have there been Negroes in those panels~ A. 

Yes. 
Q. Did I interrupt you, Judge Knox, when you were 

answering about women? A. I was going to say, in speak­
ing about the Negro, I recall the last time I sat, I to,ok 
the excuse of a juror who was a very intelligent Negro, 
,-dw was connected with the Union of Pullman Railway 
Porters. · 

( 4 721) Q. Well, you have seen Negroes on panels-
A. Yes. 

Q. -from time to time? A. Yes. 
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Q. And have there been persons who appeared to be 
members of the Jewish faith? A. nfany of them. 

Q. Have there been times, for instance, when persons 
asking to be excused, asked to be excused on the basis that 
they needed time to observe the Jewish holidays~ A. I 
think so, yes. 

Q. Now, .Judge, you have sat as a trial judge in this 
court for over thirty years? A. That is right. 

Q. Have you on the trial juries that have appeared 
before you observed Negroes? A. I have. 

Q. And women'? A. Yes. 
Q. And Jews? A. Yes. 
Q. And people who appeared to be working men from 

their occupations? A. Yes. 

Mr. Sacher: How did he know they were Jews? 

Q. Mr. Sacher wants to know how you knew that peo­
ple were Jews? Let me reframe my question and let me 
ask you, were there people serving on the juries before 
you whose nan1es appeared to be Jewish names? A. That 
is right. 

Q. And were there occasions in panels, in cases where 
juries were sitting before you, where maybe even during 
the trial somebody would ask to be excused in order to 
observe tbe Jewish holidays? A. Oh, yes. As a matter 
(4722) of fact, we recognize them regularly down here 
in this court. 

Q. Now ,Judge l{nox, in all the time that you have been 
in charge, that you have been the senior judge and the 
chief judge of this court, have you ever ordered anybody 
off the jury list because of his race? A. I certainly did 
not. 

Q. Or because of his religion? A. No. 
Q. Or because of his color? A. No. 
Q. Or because of any political affiliation that he had T 

A. No. 
Q. Or any religious affiliation? A. No. 
Q. Or any economic status? A. No. 
Q. Have you ever directed any clerk under your juris­

clidion to do anything Jik,e that? A. No. 
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l\fr. lVIcGohey: Thank you. I have no further 
questions. 

Mr. Gladstein: I have one question. 
The Court: Just a moment. 
When the question came up a 1noment ago about 

the Jewish holidays, did you say that the Jewish 
holidays were observed in this court 7 

The Witness: They certainly are. 
Mr. Gladstejn: I have a couple of questions. 

( 4723) Redirect exami11ation by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Of course, Judge Knox, you do not know whether 
any of the attaches of this court did strike from the 
lists of juries any of the many thousands of Negroes and 
poor Jews who lived on the Lower East Side, who have 
never been on those lists, isn't that so ~ A. No. 

Mr. :McGohey: I object to that, your Honor. 
How can you strike the nmne of a person who was 
never on the list~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Ah. I think you got the point, 
Mr. McGohey. 

lvir. McGohey: Because the question you asked,­
the question he asked was, did the Judge strike the 
name of any person who was never on a list~ 

The Court: That is a rhetorical question. 
Mr. McGohey: Well, it is a dishonest question, 

your Honor, and that is the basis of the objection 
to it. 

The Court: It is in Mr. Gladstein's best style. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, ye:s,terday it wa.s !\fr. Gor­

don who responded, and today I have the honor of 
Mr. McGohey doing it. 

The Court: Well, that must be a great satis­
faction to you, Mr. Gladstein. 

l\f r. Gladstein: I do have one question. 
( 4 724) The Court : Your adherents in the court­

room responded bravely. 
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1\Ir. Gladstein: I do-now the record should 
show that 50 per cent of the people in the courtroom 
are representatives of the press. 

Tbe Court: Well, I thought I heard the noise 
from over here (indicating), where the seats are 
reserved for the defendants' families and friends. 

Mr. Gladstein: ~1ay I ask the question that I 
wanted to ask? 

The Court: Yes, you may. 

Q. Judge Knox, you were asked in examination by Mr. 
~fcGohey about some testimony that you gave at a time 
when Senator Langer was present. A. That is right. 

Q. Is tha,t the same Senator Langer who a few weeks 
ago on the floor of the United States Senate delivered a 
speech analyzing the jury systen1 in the Southern District 
of New York, making reference's to you and charact:erizing 
this jury system, in substance and effect, as an outrageous 
violation of the Constitution of the United States 1 A. I 
saw the Congressional Record to that effect, that Senator 
Langer made an address along those lines. 

1fr. Gladstein: I have no further questions. 
(4725) Mr. McGohey: Now if the Court please, 

I am reading from the report of the hearings be­
fone a sub-committee of the Committee on the Judi­
ciary, United States Senate, 80th Congress, April 
23rd and 24th, beginning at the top of page 50, which 
is a carry-over from page 49-

Mr. Gladstein: My question had to do with a 
few weeks ago; 1947 was not the time. 

The Court : Well, you know, one thing leads to 
another. 

Mr. McGohey: I am quoting this: 

''Senator Langer: But even Judge Knox ·says 
here that he hand-picks the jury. It says so in this 
statement. 

''Now, I am not going to vote for any measure, 
myself-! do not know about the other gentlemen­
unless there is some provision in there where a Fed-
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eral Judge cannot hand-pick the jury. He says 
here: 

" 'In answer to this indictment, I cannot do 
otherwise than admit my guilt.' '' 

Mr. Gladstein: Read it so that I can hear it, Mr. 
McGohey. 

Mr. Gordon: Oh, Mr. Gladstein. 
Mr. McGohey: ''Judge Knox said-

'·' 'unless restrained by an authority to which I 
must ( 4726) yield, jurors in my district will con­
tinue to be hand-picked, and it will be done with 
care.' '' 

Senator Langer says: "He does it with care be­
cause he is an honest judge; but why should the 
American people tolerate a dishonest judge band­
picking a jury 1'' 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Judge Knox, the statement concerning you was in 
1947 that Mr. McGohey just read, isn't that so 7 A. I as­
sume so because-

Q. Yes, and you understood that my question to you, 
dealing with the statements of Senator Langer, referring 
to you and the jury system here, had to do with a speech 
that you delivered in the Senate within a few weeks ago, 
this year, isn't that right 1 A. Yes, the 24th day of Jan­
nary, to be exact, I think. 

Mr. Gladstein: Thank you, that is all. 

By the Court: 

Q. Judge Knox, there is just one question that I have: 
in this Tolman report there is reference to a time prior 
to 1941, a statement: "One of the greatest difficulties 
with juries has been due to general economic conditions in 
New York City. The panef was overcrowded with relief 
workers and housewives.'' 

Had such a condition come to your attention 1 ( 4727) 
A. The people in charge of relief during the depression 
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came to me and asked if I couldn't put a number of these 
poor people upon the jury rolls so that they might have 
some income, and I put them on. And then I had two or 
three experiences in cases that were tried before me where 
I felt that their feelings towards the Government as a 
vd1ole nnc1 toward~ \YenJth as a ,,·hole and towards society 
as a whole was not good, and so I then asked that a number 
of then1 be eliminated. 

Q. You then observed the fact that in that time there 
was an overcrowding of the jury system with relief work­
ers and housewives~ A. That was my opinion. 

Q. Now it also says sornething in here about something 
being done along two lines ; one was that you proposed to 
see that jurors summoned were of a better quality, and you 
proposed to reduce the body of excuses. What is meant 
by that~ A. Well, a great many people would come in and 
want to be excused time after time, and at one time, to 
go back a long distance, I did not have enough jurors to 
do business because some of the politicians had taken them 
into the club houses, and a lot of people did not show up 
to man the jury boxes, and I tried to put an end to that. 

The Court: All right, thank you. 
lvi:-. Sacher: I have just one question. 

( 4728) By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Have you made any observation as to the number of 
business men in the juries that appeared before you~ A. 
I have seen a good many, yes. 

Q. Wouldn't you say that the overwhelming majority 
of them are? A. I cannot say without an examination of 
the roll. · 

Q. Will you be kind enough to make that examination, 
Judge Knox~ A. I am in court with some 12,000-

The Court: I will give no such direction. 
Thank you, Judge. 

(Witness excused.) 
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The Court: Next witness. 
Mr. McGohey: By the way, a copy of Judge 

Knox's speech at Uniontown was called for; it 
wasn't used. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, while we are waiting for 
the next witness, your Honor, I want to file the 
amendments and supplement to the challenge which 

1your Honor gave me permission to do so some time 
ago, in order to confonn the original challenge to 
the proofs and include the petit jury panels, you 
know, of February 1st and February 2nd-you re­
call that? 

The Court: I remember a motion to amend the 
challenge that I denied. 

Mr. Gladstein: Not that. 
( 4729) The Court: I do not recall what it is 

that you are referring to now. 
Mr. Gladstein: Oh, I will get the record refer­

ence. 
The Court: Don't worry about the record refer­

ence, as long as I know what you are talking about. 
Mr. Gladstein: All I am doing is making ap­

plicable to the February panels the challenge that 
we filed (handing). 

The Court: Well, do you understand that I have 
to rule on this or may you submit it as a matter of 
right~ 

Mr. Gladstein: I think it is as a matter of right, 
but I did ask your Honor for permission and I can 
dig up the record reference in which your Honor 
said that that would be all right, and that I could 
file a document subsequently. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, my recollection is 
that at some point there was an objection made to 
the introduction of any testimony about panels after 
the second January drawing because the witness 
lenge as drawn did not include it. However, your 
Honor accepted some panels or some testimony 
about February, and then said ( 4730) that they 
could enlarge the challenge. I do not understand 
that it is an amendment. 

LoneDissent.org



2495 

Colloquy of Court and Counsel 

The Court : Very well. 
~Ir. 11cGohey: But to include February, I have 

no objection to it. 
The Court: V cry well, I will receive it. 
Now those papers that you got from Judge 

Knox, will you hand those back, please. 

(Papers handed to the clerk.) 

The Court : There was another one as I remem­
ber it. He had the pages that he used in making 
his speech, and he took those with him, did he 1 

1Ir. Sacher: Yes. 
The Court: That 1nay be sent up to Judge Knox 

in due course. 

( 4731) EuGENE J. CANTIN, resumed the stand. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, may I in­
quire before proceeding with this witness if George 
W. Adams, who was under subpoena as of yester­
day, is in court now~ Your I-Ionor will recall the 
Court received some message about Mr. Adams who 
lives in Connecticut, some inability of his to appear, 
which your Honor called to my attention. I would 
like to know if Mr. Adams is here. 

The Court: You mean in the witnes·s room 1 
Mr. Isserman: Yes, please. 
The Court: Will you see, Mr. Borman, is George 

W. Adams here~ 
The Clerk: Yes, your Honor. 
The Court: The clerk informs me that there 

was something stated yesterday as to Mr. Adams, or 
some reply by him, to the effect that he was await­
ing a call from defense counsel to come from Gil­
bert, Connecticut. Did you give him such word to 
come~ 

Mr. Gladstein: The clerk did not speak to me 
about it. 

The Bailiff: The gentleman said he is sick to­
day and he did not show up. 

. Mr. Isserman: Is there somebody to speak for 
h1m as to that~ 
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The Bailiff: I don't know. He stated he was 
( 4 732) sick. 

:Mr. Isserrnan: I note my objection on the rec­
ord to completing my examination under the tirne 
limit imposed by your I-Ionor and also note the fact 
that although we spent several hours this morning 
in examining the contents of Exhibits 303 to ::308, in­
clusive, that examination is not complete, and with­
out completing it I cannot complete the examination 
of this witness. 

Direct examination contin1ted by JYir. Isserman: 

Q. Now, 1rfr. Cantin-

11r. Gordon: Just a moment. The examination 
of those exhibits was limited in time by, in part, the 
choice of counsel. The exhibits were offered in the 
morning, I think, and received, and we were asked 
to have them available in the court house, and I 
suggested they begin working right away,-I will 
make this brief,-and they did not show up until 
8.30 although they said they would be there at 8, 
and they were permitted to work until 10.15, and 
told they would be available at 9, and they did not 
show np at 9 this morning, and they came in later, 
so the time question is a concern for them. 

l\fr. Isserman: It is not a matter of 15 minutes. 
The exhibits 308 to 31;) include some 15,000 names 
and correspondence in connection ·with those names. 

( 4733) The Court: Is this ·witness supposed to 
know about these? 

l\fr. Isserman: He knows a lot. 
The Court: Perhaps you mig-ht examine him a 

little on some of the more important ones. 
The Witness: Your Honor, I apologize for be­

ing late. 
The Court: That is perfectly all right. Don't 

trouble yourself about it at all. 
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Q. You testified you were connected with the Denby 
:Motor Truck Company hack in about 1937? A. No, earlier 
than that. 

Q. Weren't you connected with the Universal Finger­
printing Company~ A. No. 

Q. You never were connected with that organization' 
A. No; no. Never heard of it. 

Q. Now I call your attention to a letter addressed to 
you taken from Exhibit 308, which is in evidence, which is 
the files of the Grand Jury Association, and ask you if 
that letter was in fact a letter received by you (handing) 1 
A. I don't reme1nber that letter. 

Q. Did you know l\1r. George W. Adam,s who signed this 
letter? A. Oh, yes. 

Q. And do you recall receiving similar letters from him 
from time to time? 

( 4734) The Court: Did he say he remembered 
the :first one~ 

Mr. Isserman: No. He said he did not recall 
this one. 

The Witness: No, I do not recall such a letter 
from him or any others like that. 

Q. Now I call your attention to a series of handwritten 
names on the back of the letter \Vhich bears your name and 
addressed by you to 1\ir. Adams, and ask you if those 
names are in your handwriting? A. Yes. That reminds 
me I must have received that letter because that is my 
handwriting. 

Mr. Issern1an : i\nd this letter I would like to 
have marked as Exhibit 308-A. 

The Court: Is that one of the ones that came 
out of the lists in evidence? 

l\f r. Isserman: That is correct. 
The Court: It is in evidence already but you 

wish to distinguish hy an additional number~ 
Mr. Isserman: That is correct. 
The Court: You may do that. 

(:Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 308-A.) 

LoneDissent.org



2498 

Eugene J. Cantin-for Defendants on Challenge-Recalled 
in Rebuttal-Direct 

Q. Now, this letter, Mr. Cantin, reads as follows: 

"Executive Committee, Federal Grand Jury As­
sociation, addressed to Mr. Eugene J. Cantin: 
( 4735) ''Dear Mr. Cantin: 

''The Panel Committee would appreciate it great­
ly if you would send to Mrs. St. Clair names of 
about 20 women eligible for duty. It is not neces­
sary, and in fact unwise, to discuss the matter with 
these women in advance. We are anxious that Mrs. 
St. Clair should have the names as promptly as 
possible. 

"When we say 20 we mean more or less names as 
is convenient for you to supply her. The Commit­
tee would greatly appreciate this for it seems to 
them to be one of the best ways to provide a proper 
cross-section. This is all we expect to call upon you 
to do." 

And I ask you whether or not in response to this in­
quiry you wrote the names on the back of the letter and 
sent them in to Mr. Adams or to Mrs. St. Clair~ A. Yes, 
I did. 

Mr. Gordon: Is the answer to all three things in 
the question or just one~ 

The Court : I think it is just in response to the 
letter. He wrote the names on it and sent them to 
Mr,s. St. Clair. 

Mr. Isserman: That is all I am asking for. I 
did not ask for anything more. 

( 4786) Q. It was your notion the names you put on 
the back of this letter would provide a proper cross-section, 
is that correct~ A. Let me just look over those names, 
please. 

Q. I call your attention to the fact that the blue sheet 
annexed, the typewritten copy is of the same names. 

JYfr. Gordon: I object to the question on the 
ground that the letter was not written bv the wit-
ness and what his opinion was- ., 
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The Court: Let us see if he knows who the 
people were and what he has to say about them. 
What is the date of that letter anyway~ 

1\fr. Isserman: That letter is April 28, 1941. 

A. Would you have that question read to me, please, the 
last question~ 

Q. My question is, Mr. Cantin, when, you put these 
names on the back of the letter and sent the names back to 
Mrs. St. Clair you were using those names to be a proper 
cross-section? A. I think it is a very good one. 

Q. And those names include the president and general 
of the D.A.R., Mrs. William H. Pouch, is that right¥ A. 
Right. 

Q. Mrs. Helen B. Merchant, investment banker? A. 
Yes. 

Q. And Mrs. Beatty, public relations~ A. Right. 
Q. And a number of interior decorators~ A. Yes. 

( 4737) Mr. Gordon: Who were classified as 
manual workers. 

Mr. Isserman: I think Mr. Gordon is irrepres­
sible. 

Mr. Gordon: I am sorry, your Honor. It is con­
tagious. I apologize. 

The Court: Now this fact about the interior 
decorators~ I did not quite get the last few. 

(Record read.) 

The Court : Don't go through them all. I can 
read it myself quickly. 

Q. By ''cross-section'' you understood cross-~ection to 
mean cross-section of the Federal grand jury, did you not, 
when you sent these names in. A. No. You mean a cross­
section for the grand jury? Yes. 

The Court: Maybe it was a cross-section of the 
community as a whole? 

Mr. Isserman: I will ask him about that. 
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Q. Did you n1ean by that that this was a cross-section 
of the community you were supplying? A. Of a com­
munity as a whole, no, because not enough names on there 
to be a full cross-section. I think it is a good cross-section 
of people. I have served on the grand jury for a good 
many years or good many times, rather, and in my experi­
ence that is a first class croslS-section. If there were 23 
of those women on a Federal grand jury I should say it 
was a very fine ( 4738) fair-minded jury. 

Q. And didn't you as a member of the executive com­
mittee of the Association, and its honorary secretary and 
honorary president, from time to time submit additional 
names for that kind of cross-section? A. I did not. I maY 
have. . 

Mr. Gordon: I am going to object. 
The Witness: I don't remember submitting any 

other names. 
The Court: What is that~ 
The Witness: I may have, but I don't remember 

submitting any other women's names. I may have 
submitted some men. 

Q. But you don't recall?- A. I don't recall particularly. 

Mr. Gordon: I object to cross-examination of 
this witness by Mr. Isserman. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, the Court 
has allowed that latitude before. 

The Court: I don't think it is in the nature of 
cross-examination, Mr. Gordon. I think it is per­
fectly proper. 

Q. I call your attention to an exhibit taken from the 
files of the Association included in Exhibit 303, which 
bears on it, on top, Nominations for a panel of (4739) 
Federal Grand Jurors for the Southern District of New 
York, and in ink in the upper righthand corner ''Submitted 
to :M:r. 1\fcKenzie'' and in the lefthand corner '·'1Ir. Cantin" 
and I ask you to look at that list and tell me whether or 
not your name on it indicate·s that you supplied those 
names as a cros.s--section for a Federal grand jury panel! 
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Mr. Gordon: What number was this from? 
11:r. Isserman: 303. 
1Ir. Gordon: 303 has never been offered in evi­

dence, your Honor. 
11r. Isserman: If the Court please, the file.s 

which are offered are marked-
The Court: Let me see it with the exhibit 

number. 
Mr. Isserman : Then it. should be in evidence 

as part of the files produced by Mrs. St. Clair. 
The Court : Well, it is not in ev:idence. 
~lr. Isserman: I would like to offer the file as 

part of the complete file. I think she started to 
identify one portion and then the remaining portions 
were put in and my belief was the entire lot wa:s put 
in evidence. 

The Court : Is there any objection~ 
Mr. Gordon: To it being received~ 
The Court : Yes. 
( 4740) Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, yesterday 

when all these lists came in, as I under·stood it, the 
offer was of the lists of names which had been sub­
mitted to the Government-

The Court: These are way back in 1938. 
Nir. Isserman: Yes, your Honor, but i~t is part 

of the entire exhibit which your Honor ruled into 
evidence yesterday. 

11r. Gordon: No. W·e have here, as I understand 
it, in thi:s exhibit a lot of corre:spondence between 
the Federal Grand Jury AJssociation and outsiders, 
and it has already been demonstrated that in the 
effort to save time and he liberal we now have a lot 
of mater:ial which is re.ally extraneous to the issue 
and I object to the extraneous matters. 

1v1r. Isserman: The whole exhibit was offered 
as ·the files of the As,sociation containing the Hsts of 
names which ·were submitted to the clerk of this 
court and the individual communications in which 
individual names and recommendations were made, 
and the Court's ruling embraced the entire file. It 
happened this particular portion does not seem to 
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have been marked in evidence because it was in a 
separate folder. 

The Court: l\fr. Isserman, ·what I thought I 
was doing was putting i11 evidence all the lists of 
(4741) names that l\frs. St. Clair was testifying 
about that had been made available for use in send­
ing out notices for qualification over the period of 
t:ime we have been talking of here. I did not realize 
that there was a lot of miscellaneous correspondence 
in there. Now it seems that this particular page, 303 
for identification, is earlier than the period in ques­
tion, the period in question being substantially from 
1940 on through to the time of the beginning of this 
proceeding. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, we discussed 
this matter yesterday with the Court and the Court 
with this very witness :fixed 1937 as the date prj or to 
which the Court would not allow me to go and that 
was based on the Tolman Report which is dated 
1941 and says three or four years ago a new system 
was put in operation, and that is the system we have 
been talking about. 

The Court: I have permitted certain questions 
to go back to that time, that is true, and I think per­
haps the best thing to do now is allow this to be 
marked in evidence. I think it is encumbering the 
record, and I think, too, the significance of these lists 
lies in that question that we do not have before us as 
to their use. They were made available, it is true. 
Now the question is as to what I am to infer from 
being (4742) made available and it does not seem 
to help an awful lot. However I am going to allow 
them so you have it marked in evidence and you may 
go ahead with the questions. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 303 for identifi­
cation received in evidence.) 

Q. Could you answer the question now? A. Those 
names may have been supplied by me. I recognize one 
name here from whose concern I knew a man that worked 

LoneDissent.org



2503 

Eugene J. Cwdin-for Defendants on Challenge-Recalled 
in Rebuttal-Direct 

for this concern and two of those concerns I knew people 
that worked for them and that may have been-

Q. Isn't it a fact, Mr. Cantin, from your knowledge of 
the records of the Association that Mrs. St. Clair was in 
the habit of writing on the list the source of the list; that 
is, the book out of which it was taken or the man who sub­
mitted the name,s, isn't that true~ 

':l"'he Court: Did you know Mrs. St. Clair wrote 
certain things on there or didn't you~ 

The Witness: I knew some of the things she 
wrote. I don't know whether she ever sent this down 
there or not. 

The Court: Another thing in the question origi­
nally asked, Mr. Isserman asked if you sent that 
little list of five or six names as a cross-section. 

The Witnes.s: Oh, yes. 
(4743) The Court: Yes1 
The Witness : No, I did not. 
The Court : Of course you cannot have a list of 

four or five names as a cross-section. 
The Witness: I misunderstood. 

Q. I ask you whether or not it was not a practice of 
Mrs. St. Clair, who was your secretary and assistant, and 
who worked with you in the Association, to put down the 
name of the person who submitted the list, on the list~ A. 
I think that she probably did. She was very systematic 
and would want to identify who supplied that. I think it 
is very probable she did that on all. 

Q. And your name on this would indicate-

Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court : Mr. Isserman, will you stand back, 

because when you, as you get together, as it was 
with ~fr. Gladstein, it confuses me. 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that question, your 
Honor. Mrs. St. Clair was here and asked about 
certain marks and she testified, and Mr. Cantin's 
name may have meant this was for him to look at. 

The Court: He is asking if he knew of a certain 
custom on her part to always mark those things and 
he says maybe so, probably she did. 
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(4:744) Do you know whether she did or not as a 
positive fact~ 

The Witness: No. But I say the probability is 
that she did because she was very ,systematic. 

The Court: Yes. That is what I thought. 

Q. Now I ask you, :Mr. Cantin, if you submitted the fol­
lowing names for consideration for service on the grand 
jury: 

John L. Burke, president B. Altman & Company; 
Gerald F. Beal, president J. Henry Schroeder; Ar­
temus L. Gates, president New York Trust Com­
pany; Malcolm Muir, president Newsweek; Neal 
Dow Becker, president Intertype Corporation 7 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did you consider a grand jury composed of those 

persons would be an apparent cross-section grand jury1 

Mr. Gordon: I object to that. 
The Court: Sustained. You have five people 

present and you ask if that is a cross-section 1 
Mr. Isserman: I asked if he considered it a 

cross-section of the grand jury such as he is accus­
tomed to see in Federal courts. 

The Court: I sustain the objection. 

Q. Mr. Cantin, isn't it a fact that from time to time 
there were other names that you submitted to 1\{rs. St. 
Clair ( 4745) for forwarding to the clerk of this court? 
A. There may have been. 

Q. Now did you ever write to the American Labor 
Party to get names for the Federal grand jury 1 A. No. 
I don't recall ever writing to them. I will change that. I 
don't recall. 

Q. I call your attention to an exhibit from 307 which is 
part of the records of the Association and ask you whether 
or not the letter from-

Mr. Isserman: I would like to have this exhibit 
marked in its entirety as 307-A. 

Mr. Gordon: May I see it1 
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1\fr. Isserman: Just one second until I ask a 
question. 

l\fr. Gordon: Before you read from it may I see 
it7 

l\Ir. Isserman: Before I read from it you may 
see it. 

Q. Now I ask you, l\1:r. Cantin, if you did not have the 
correspondence with 1\Irs. William Henry Hayes, presi­
dent of the Women'·s National Republican Club, Inc., 
which appears in this exhibit and whether you did not reply 
to her as indicated by the carbon copies of the letters an­
nexed to that correspondence (handing)~ A. Yes. I re­
call that. Wait until I look at the date. (4746) Yes. 

Q. And that was on February 27, 1943, wasn't it 7 A. 
Yes. 

Q. What position did you hold with the Grand Jury 
Association at that time 7 A. I was honorary president and 
an active member of the executive committee. 

Q. And you wrote to her as president of the Women's 
National Republican Club, Inc., and signed your name as 
honorary president of the Federal Grand Jury Associa­
tion 7 A. I did. 

Q. I call your attention on the bottom of the letter 
marked February 25, 1943, which you sent to Mrs. Hayes, 
which reads-

~Ir. Gordon: Didn't you say you were going to 
let me see it before you read from it7 

Mr. Isserman: I thought you abandoned your 
request. Do you want it now? 

The Court: Yes, I heard him say that. 
1\ir. Gordon: But this is my third­
Mr. Isserman: It has been marked. 
Mr. Gordon: I asked if I could see it before he 

read from it. 
l\fr. Isserman: I know it but I continued my ex­

amination and I thought he abandoned his request. 
l\ir. Gordon: Now you have for the first time 

(4747) started reading from it. 
The Court: Do you want to let me see it? 
l\ir. Isserman: Certainly (handing). 

LoneDissent.org



2506 

Eugene J. Cantin-for Defendants on Challenge-Recalled 
in Rebuttal-Direct 

The Court: You know all this correspondence 
that is in there I regard as of absolutely no proba­
tive value to the issues here. I allowed the lists to 
go in but I did not want to take the time to go over 
each and every paper in these envelopes. Ho,vever, 
I will let you proceed with that. 

Mr. Gordon: You ·were going to read this "PS "1 
Mr. Isserman: Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: Would your Honor entertain a mo­

tion to strike this particular correspondence from 
this exhibit as not being a list~ If you feel-

The Court: I think it is probably better to let it 
all go ahead and I can consider, in determining the 
issues, the probative force of such of the proof. The 
most that would happen is a little evidence ·will get 
in that has little or no probative force and I can 
give it such 'veighi as it is entitled to when I make 
my decision. 

Mr. Gordon: Then I will make no such motions 
on that ground. 

Q. I call your attention to the postscript of the (4748) 
letter of February 25, 1943, which reads: 

"Please caution any persons whom you propose 
for jury service not to mention clubs of which they 
are members nor their political affiliations. This is 
very important.'' 

And I ask if that was on the letter when you sent itP A. 
Yes. 

Q. I also call your attention to the letter of Mrs. Haves 
which states that, dated February 27, 1943: · 

"I have cautioned everyone whose applications I 
have sent in to you that they must not mention any 
connection with this club, and I am sure they under­
stand it, for I realize how important it is not to have 
any political affiliation," 

and ask you if the applications to which she \vas referring 
were not applications on the form of the Association en­
titled,'' Application for selection as Federal grand juror''f 
A. Oh-what is there about this form~ 
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Q. As to whether or not the applications referred to 
by Mrs. Hayes were not on the form entitled ''Application 
for selection as Federal grand juror'' a copy of which ap­
pears in the back of your letter of February 25, 1943 ~ A. 
Yes. 

Q. Now these fonns were obtained from a great many 
persons while you ·were connected with the Association, 
( 47 49) were they not~ A. I think so, yes. I do not know 
exactly how many. I have seen some of them, yes. 

Q. And can you tell me what happened to the original 
of the carbon which appears on the back of the letter of 
Mrs. Hayes 1 A. I cannot. 

Q. Wasn't it the custom of your Association to send the 
originals to the clerk of this court 1 

:Mr. Gordon: Objection. 

A. I do not know. That -vvas a detail that I had nothing 
to do with and paid no attention to. Mrs. St. Clair-

The Court: When you see the Assistant United 
States Attorney rise to object-it may be with your 
glasses off you do not see it-

The Witness: No, I do not. 
The Court: But I will let the matter stand. 
1\fr. Isserman: I won't pursue the question be­

cause of the time limitation which has been put on 
me. 

1\fr. Gordon: I will withdraw any objection. Mr. 
Isserman may pursue it to his heart's content. 

Mr. Isserman: I won't pursue it because I have 
not got time. The Court has not given me time. 

Q. Now I show you this-

Mr. Issennan: I would like to have this marked 
for identification. 

( 4 750) (Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 
:397 for identification.) 

Q. Now I show you a bulletin on the stationery of the 
Federal Grand Jury Association over the printed signature 
of the Association addressed to members of the Federal 
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Grand Jury panel. The bulletin is undated but indicates 
that the president-

Mr. Gordon : I object. 
The Court: That is right. 

Q. Can you fix the time of this bulletin, the approximate 
time, if you can? A. Yes. Definitely that was within the 
last three years. 

Q. And you get that from the fact that Mr. Shaw is 
listed as president? A. Mr. Shaw, yes. 

Q. Your name appears on the stationery of this bulletin 
as honorary president and also as a member of the execu­
tive committee, does it not? 

Mr. Gordon: I object to questions concerning 
the contents of the exhibit until it is offered in evi­
dence. 

The Court : Sustained. 
Mr. Isserman: I am merely identifying it fur­

ther and the witness's competence in respect of it. 
I merely asked if his name appears as president. 

The Court: I don't think whether his name ap­
pears has anything to do with it. Go ahead. 

( 4751) Q. This bulletin was put out with the authority 
of the executive board of the Association, was it not 1 
A. Yes. 

Q. And you are a member of that board? A. I am. 
Q. And you are familiar with the bulletin~ A. Yes. 
Q. And it is a correct statement of the activities of 

the Association, is it not? A .. Yes. 
Q. And it was sent to every member of the grand jury 

panel? A. Yes. 

:Mr. Isserman: I offer it in evidence. It is of­
fered, your Honor, ·without the ink notations on it. 
There are a few interlinings and markings in the 
margin. 

Mr. Gordon: Ink notations or no ink notations 
it is objected to as irrelevant to the challenge since 
it i1s something which apparently pertains to some 
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activity of the Federal Grand Jury A~ssociation with 
its men1bcrs and not to this Court or what the people 
in this court house do. 

The Court: This is sent to those who were 
already members of the grand jury panel. It says 
so there. I suppose it must be. 

The Witness: Yes. Your Honor, we used to 
sometimes-

The Court: That is all right. This was not 
sent to anyhody who was going to be selected but 
they hafl ( 4752) already been selected? 

The \Vitnesf-;: Y cs. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
l\[ r. I Sf-;ermnn: If the Court please, I cannot 

complete 1ny examination of this witne,ss because 
of the time lin1ii tation \vhich your Honor has put 
on the examination and I object to it. 

The Court: Any cross? 
l\Ir. Gordon: No, your Honor. 

(Witness excused.) 

~rhe Court: We \vill take our recess for ten 
minutes. 

(Short recess.) 

l\Ir. Gladstein: Before we comm·ence, Judge­
The Court: I have it done already. 
l\Ir. Gladstein: What time is it: going to end 1 
The Court: You have 18 extra minutes now, 

including the short time I came in late. 
~Ir. Gladstein: You are making it twelve minutes 

to five? Is that correct? 
The Court: Yes, about. 

( 4753) .JOHN \V HITTIER DARR_, JR., called as a witness 
on behalf of the defendants on the challenge, in rebuttal, 
being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

Air. Crockett: If the Court please, before we 
proceed with the examination of this witness we have 
a motion I should like to make at this time which is 
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a motion pursuant to Rule 6(b) (2) of t•he Federal 
Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

The Court: Just a ,s.econd until I get the rule 
before me. All right. 

Mr. Crockett: It is a motion to dismiss the_;in­
dietment against all of the defendants which wa1s 
filed on behalf of all of the defendants and it is 
predicated upon the grounds that there a:r;e certain 
members o.f the grand jury panel which returned 
the indictment who were not qualified to serve as 
grand jurors in the Federal court, and I won't take 
time to read the motion, but I have it in written form 
.and I will pass it up to the bench and hand a copy 
to Mr. McGohey. 

The Court: Isn't that the motion, or substan­
tially isn't that the motion based upon those objec­
tions which you moved for leave to amend and I 
denied that leave to amend o? 

Mr. Crockett : No. 
The Court: That had to do with the Westchester 

( 4754) jurors~ 
Mr. Crockett: No. That had to do with the 

amending- of the challenge. This is to contend the 
whole system was permea:t:ed by the clerk's failure 
to inquire of grand jur,ors as to their qualifications. 
This motion is addressed to the W estche.ster grand 
jurors on the panel who returned the indictment 
in this case (handing). 

Mr. Isserman: May I proceed~ 
The Court : No. I want to hear what Mr. 

McGohey has to say with reference to this before I 
proceed further. I am reading the rule now. Would 
you rather address yours·elf to that later?' 

~fr. McGohey: Mr. Gordon will make the argu­
ment, your Honor. 

~Ir. Gordon: Your Honor, aside from the fact 
that this is out of time-

The Court: Let me hear about that part first. 
Is it out of time? 

Mr. Gordon: It lis out of time bee;ause it appears 
to be a motion to dismiss the indictment for defects 
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in the composition of the grand jury which :filed the 
indictment which was naturally included in the 
motion nwde before Judge Hulbert. 

The Court: Yes. 
1-fr. Gordon: And I might say srince the law 

( 4755) require,s that 16 grand jurors shall consti­
tute a quorum and the paper attacks no more than 
4 Uwre were bound, under the circumstances, on 
their O\Vll paper, to have been 12 grand jurors who 
were qualified, and the rule they have just ref.erred 
your 1Ionor to says there shall be 12 jurors who 
are qualified, .so on its face it does not even say 
anything, and on those grounds, plus the fact that 
229(b), as I think n{r. l\1cGohey pointed out to your 
IIouor-if you have that section~ 

The Court: No, I haven't it before me. 
1Ir. Gordon: Here it is (handing). It talks 

about what the county people shall do in drawing 
,a grand jury in a county. So it is not applica.ble. 

The Court: That is 229(b) ~ 
~Ir. Gordon: Of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

of the State of New York. 
The Court: You say 229 (b) applies only to 

grand juries in vVestchester ~ 
l\fr. Gordon: Or any other county outside of 

New York serving in that county. In any event the 
p01int about it, your Honor, is that it is a section 
which seems to describe the procedure which the 
State officials shall go throug·h rather than to direct 
itself to the qualifications of the individual jurors. 

The Court: I will take that under advisement. 
( 4756) 1fr. Crockett: M:ay I be heard~ 
The Court: Yes, you may be heard. 
1\[r. Crockett: V\7ill that be deducted from the 

amount of time we have to put in testimony~ 
The Court: Well, it be time used. I have al­

ready cleduct·ed the time l\fr. Gordon ll()Ok, but any 
time you take will be time you might more profitably 
use in putting your witnesses on. That is for you 
to decide. 
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Mr. Crockett: Under those circumstances, and 
in accordance with the time limitation fixed by t:he 
Court I will be unable to make the argument. 

The Court: I understood in the briefs you have 
in my hands you have this matter discussed here­
tofore. 

Mr. Crock,ett: 1fay I suggest we discuss that 
later; t~he question of the briefs, and so forth~ 

The Court: We will do that after we have closed 
the proceeding. We will talk about the briefs, but 
my direction the other day was that they be in for 
both sides this afternoon. 

1Ir. Gordon: 1Iav I have 60 more seconds~ 
The paper appears t~ be upon tihe affidavit of an 
attorney who .says that he has caused an examination 
of certain rolls to be made, so that the fourth ob­
jection to the motion would be that it is unsub­
stant,iated by proof. 

The Court: All right. 
( 4757) 1Ir. Gl1adstein: I would like to answer 

that by pointing out that the ·sworn affidavit of an 
attorney is proof of this matter, but I cannot do that 
because the time limita1tion makes me feel as though 
I am forced to run a 100 yard dash and I would 
not make a legal argument under those circum­
stances, but I do not want to take a moment to ask 
the clerk to file as our next exhibit an offer of 
proof which contains references, page references, 
to the transcript, where your Honor will find we 
were permitted-your Honor g,a,ve us permission­
to make a written offer of proof concerning _certain 
matters that l\1r. Doxey Wilkerson would have tes'ti­
fied about had he be~n permitted to do so and I 
ask tha,t this be marked a1s .an exhibit for identi­
fication. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 398 for 
identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Ma:v it be under~stood that con­
stitutes the written offer of proof that I was not 
permitted to make orally at that time but which 
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your Honor ha.s the page references to in t1his last 
exhibit for identification which will show accorded 
me the right to make that~ 

The Court: No. I think that should have been 
made long ago. 

( 4758) Thfr. Isserman: If the Court ple,ase, 
ther.e is ,a, name of a witness, Edward Conlon who 
had be·en subpoenaed, that belongs t1o the same group 
who, I think in Exhibit 183-B, in the 2nd Assembly 
District of the Bronx, 11th District, on page 7, 
was listed amongst nine other names, or at least 
we checked for that addr.ess and this witness who 
appears on that list has conferred with Mr. McGohey 
and myself and advised us tha.t if he were called 
he would testify that he received no notice to appear 
at any time for ·service as a juror in this court. 

Mr. 1\fcGohey : I so stipulate. 
The Court : Very well. 
Mr. Isserman: If the Court pleas~e, at this time 

I would like t1o mark for identification the subpoena 
served on Mr. George W. Adams who, except for the 
telephone call, has not .appeared nor has anyone 
appeared for him to indicate the actual inability 
that he has. In connection with that subpoena w·e 
ask for its enforcement, and I am mindful of the 
Court's sta;,t,ement yesterday perhaps we could stipu­
late his testimony, and I submit .aill offer to stipulate 
what we can prove through Iv1r. Adams, and hav,e 
that marked as an exhibit for identification, and 
also make a statement tha:t the offer to stipulate is, 
if not accepted, ,a,n offer of proof to support the 
enforcement of the subpoena. 

(4759) (Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 
399 for identification.) 

The Court: It would do no good to issue any 
body attachment~ now for thi,s afternoon when there 
is less than an hour left of the proceeding. 

1\fr. Isserman: We ask the Court to extend the 
time to allow proper inquiry to be made. 
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The Court: I have no evidence before me that 
his absence i.s a wilful disobedience of the subpoena. 
Indeed ther·e was some discussion here about his 
being too ill to come. 

Mr. Isserman: But no one appeared to make 
any such ·statement or submit any proof to the Court, 
and we ask the subpoena, properly served, as ap­
pears by the affidav:it annexed thereto, be enforced. 

(Offer of stipulation marked Defendants' 
Challenge Exhibit 400 for identification.) 

:Mr. Isserman: :N" ow, if the Court please, jn 
connection with Exhibits 303 to 308, which consists 
of thousands of documents, l1etter·s and lists con­
:t.aining some 16,000 names, the time afforded for 
examination has been wholly inadequate. Yet our 
examinat1ion ha:s been sufficient to indicate that the 
contents of those ·exhibits ar·e relevant and material 
to the issues before the Court and bring new evi­
dence tro support the contention ( 4760) of the 
defendants bearing on the relationship of the Grand 
Jury Association with the clerk of this court. 

The exalllination thus far reveals the necessity 
for recalling 1fr. 1-fcKenzie, the jury c1erk, Mr. 
Borman, the former jury clerk of this court, :Mrs. 
Ruth St. Clair, executive secr·e,t~ary of the Associa~ 
tion, and other officers of the Association, not in­
cluding l\fr. Adams. Mr. l\fcGovern who is under 
.subpoena and l\ir. Shaw-~1:r. McGovern is the 
present secretary of the ..~:\ssociation and Mr. Shaw 
1is the present president of the As~sociation. The 
limitation of t.ime which the Court has put on our 
examination and our defense, and of course con­
tinuation of the exa:mination of these exhibits is 
again a lack of due process and g1ives the defens1e 
no opportunity to present its evidence contained in 
the exhibits before the Court to the Court and to 
establish the facts as indicated by the documents 
contained in Exhibits 303 to 308. 

Incidentally, the exhibits indicate clearly that 
the 'testimony giv~en by the three witnesses I have 
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mentioned, l\1 r. .Jlci\:enzi,e, l\1r. Borman and Mrs. 
St. Clair, is not in accord with the facts as revealed 
by correspondence between the P'arties on the sub­
jects of their testimony . 

. Mr. Gordon: Excuse m.e one moment. In 
connection ( 47Gl) \vith this 1fr. George W. 
Adams maHer, does your Honor have Exhibit 400 
for identification there 0? 

The Court: Yes, I do. 
:Mr. Gordon: An offer to stipulate. 
The Court: Yes, I have it. 
..\] 1'. (J orc1on: rf1}w U 0\"Cl'Ilillent rejects, if that is 

the term, the ofi·(~r, and we will not stipulate t1he 
testimony set forth here because it appears that 
some of it is cumulative and is already in evidence, 
and as to the rest it is irrelev,ant, and as to some 
parts I c1o not think the witnes~s would so testify, 
and it appears affirmatively fron1 this document 
that no harm accrues to the defendant~s by virtue 
of the fach; that 1\lr. Adams cannot t~estifv to be­
cause it doe~ not appear that .anything h.e would 
be asked to testify t,o he would be a unique witness 
as to. 

The Court: Verv well. 
:Mr. Is.serman: ('might say in that respect that 

1\fr. George \V. Adams, as indicatred by the testimony 
before the Court, was the sole member of the panel 
comrnitlree of ihe Grand Jury Association in 1946, 
.as· a committee of one, nnd in 1947 and 1948 con­
tinued as cha:irman of that committee though the 
rest of the n1en1bership was not established, and his 
testimony on the functioning of the panel committee 
in connection ( 4762) with the supplying of grand 
and petit jurors in this court has not been established 
in this record. 

Direct examination by .. Mr. lssennan: 

Q. No\v, ::\Ir. Darr, will you tell me what your present 
occupation is~ A. I an1 a Congregational clergyn1an. 

Q. "\Vhere did you have your training·f A. I had my 
training in Clair University in 1937 to 1941 and training 
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at Union Theological Seminary from 1941 to 1944. 
Q. Have you a congregation at this time~ A. My 

present work is chairman of the "\Vest Side Legislative 
Conference. 

Q. You do not have a, church ra;t this time~ A. No, I 
do not. 

Q. Have you ran for public office~ A. I ran for Assem­
blyman in the 7th A. D. the last 1948 elect,ion. 

Q. The 7th A. D. appears on Challenge Exhibit 288, 
does it not~ A. Yes, ,sir, it does. 

Q. Are you familiar with the-

Mr. Gladstein: J\iay I ask to have the black­
board in so this witness, and succeeding ones who 
are asked concerning maps :in evidence, will be able 
to s,ee t~hem '? 

The Court: Yes. That is the number of this 
exhibit~ 

Mr. l.Bserman: This exhibit is Challenge Ex­
hibit 56. 

(4763) Q. You can see that, Rev. Darr~ A. Yes. 

The Court: \iVhich panel does it refer to J? 

Mr. Isserman: 6-17-42. 
I am sorry, if the Court please, I have a later 

one and I suggest we use Challenge 66; 2-1-49. 
The Court: That is not one of the ones I have. 
Mr. Gordon (After exa1nining) : It was in the 

wrong place (handing to Court). 
The Court: Mr. Gordon, have you that map of 

the Assembly Districts~ 
~1r. Gordon: Yes, sir (handing). 

Q. Mr. Darr, are you familiar with the lines of the 
Congressional Districts on the west side of Manhattan 1 
A. Yes, I am. 

Q. Do you recognize them to be in the 16th, 20th, 21st 
and 22nd as they appear on this map~ A. I do. 

Q. Are you familiar with the physical composition of 
the areas embraced in those Congressional Districts~ A. 
I am. 
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Q. And are you familiar in general with the lines 
of the Assembly Districts as they appear on Challenge 
Exhibit 288 before you in conjunction with the lines of 
the Congressional Districts as they appear on Challenge 
Exhibit 66 ~ A. I am. 

(4764) Q. Will you sho·w us, using the pointer in what 
area the 7th Assen1bly District in which you ran for office 
is located~ A. The 7th Assembly District runs frorr1 
97th Street up to llOth Street and then along ~1orningside 
Drive to 125th Street and then from rrieman Place, and 
then over to Riverside Drive. 

The Court: There is something wrong here. 
The 7th Asscn1bly District according to Challenge 
Exhibit EE is very much further uptown. 

J\fr. Gladstein: You n1ay have a map before re­
a ppo rti onmen t. 

]\fr. Isserman: I believe that is the case, your 
Honor. 

M~r. Gladstein: May we look at one applicable 
before 1944, Judge~ 

The Court: I have them both here and the 7th 
is not near Morningside Drive; neither one of them. 
Let me see tbe paper you have there, Mr. Isserman. 

(Handed to Court.) 

The Court : I will take this to be an accurate 
one and listen to the testimony. 

Q. You have campaigned all over that district? A .. 
Yes, I have. 

Q. You know it to be as you see it on the map before 
you? A. Yes. 

( 4765) Q. Now can you tell us in what Congressional 
District is the 7th Assembly District~ A. The 7th .As­
sembly District straddles the 20th and 21st Congressional 
Districts. 

Q. Will you indicate that on the chart? A. North of 
116th Street up to Tieman Place, as I said before, is the 
21st Congressional. Of course the Congressional District 
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extends up to the end of the Island. South of 116th is the 
20th Congressional District. 

Q. You are referring to the area in here (indicating 
on Map)~ A. In here (indicating). 

Q. Are you fmniliar with the 7th Assernbly District 
which is north of the 7th in Manhattan~ A. That is the 
13th Assembly District, yes, sir. 

Q. Can you describe that in relation to the 21st Con­
gressional District~ A. The 13th Assembly District com­
poses tbe southern half, approxin1ately, of the 21st Con­
gressional District. 

Q. And do you know what its northern boundary is, 
aproximately ~ A. Its northern boundary is 160th Street, 
approximately. 

Q. And what Assembly District embraces the northern­
most portion of the 21st Congressional District~ A. The 
15th Assembly District runs from 160th Street-

(4766) Q. \-Vould you indicate that on the n1ap as 
closely as you can? A. 160th Street up to the end of the 
Island and from 160th Street up to 180th Street it lies 
west of Broadway and St. Nicholas, and then it cuts over to 
180th Street and Harlem River. 

Q. What Assembly District is south of the 7th in the 
20th Congressional District? A. The 5th Assmnbly Dis­
trict runs approximately from 97th Street down to 70th 
between Central Park and the river. The 5th Assembly 
District of the 20th Congressional. 

Q. Runs down to where 1 A. To 70th Street. 
Q. What is below the 5th? A. Below the 5th is the 

3rd A. D. down here (indicating) which goes beyond the 
southern border of the 20th Congressional District and 
the 20th Congressional District ending at 26th Street. 

( 4 767) Q. And when you said ''down here,'' were you 
referring_ to the southerly half, approxin1ately the south­
Prly half of the 20th? A. Yes. The Third A. D. comprises 
the southerly half of the 20th Congressional District. 

. Q. Now I ask you whether or not frmn your knowledge 
of the area embraced by the 21st Congressional District 
whether you can distinguish or describe the housing condi­
tions in tbe area-the housing conditions in the several 
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Assembly Districts embraced in the 21st District f A. 
Well, taking it by Assembly Districts, the 15th Assembly 
District, that district north of 160th Street west of Broad­
way and St. Nicholas-

Q. Is that the area which has a cluster of pins shown 
on the map, south of the George Washington Bridge~ A. 
Yes. That includes this area (indicating). It runs up 
Broadway and St. Nicholas over to 180th. That is the 15th 
Assembly District. This area in housing is predominantly 
large apartment houses, elevator, 16-story apartment 
houses. In the northern region you will :find many apart­
ment houses with casement windows. I would characterize 
this Assembly District as having few tenement houses. 
On the eastern part of tl1is district you will find small 
four to six-story apartn1ent houses along the Riversjde 
area; on the Heights there overlooking the Hudson River, 
you will find in smne cases very beautiful ( 4768) apart­
ment developments, such as Castle Village on Cabrini 
Boulevard, which overlooks the George Washington Bridge 
and the river itself. 

In the 12th A. D., which again is north of Trinity Ceme­
tery, if we want to take that as a dividing line-

Q. About what street is Trinity Cen1etery~ A. About 
155th Street. 

The Court: You mean the 13th. 
The Witness: I mean the 12th. I am talking 

about north of Trinity Cemetery, the 12th, runs 
above 155th Street east, for the most part, of Broad­
way and St. Nicholas, up to 180th. It extends over 
to the I:Iarlcn1 River. 

Q. Do you want to tell us about the 12th~ A. In the 
12th you will :find-

Q. Indicate the 12th on the map if you will, the general 
area. A. The 12th starts here (indicating) and runs over 
to here (indicating), and then it runs up to 180th. It is 
in this section here (indicating). 

Q. Indicated as running east on Broadway and around 
what street generally~ A. East on Broadway and St. 
Nicholas, between 155th Street and 180th Street. 
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The Court: It starts at 134th, doesn't it1 
The Witness: Not in this region, your Honor, 

( 4 7 69) I don't believe. 
The Court: Well,-
The Witness: Not within the 21st Congressional 

District. 
The Court: I see. You are just limiting your­

self at the moment to the 21st Congressional Dis­
trict. 

The Witness: That is correct. 
The Court: Very well. I follow you. 

A. (Continuing) In the northern part of the 12th Assembly 
District you will find a continuation of these small apart­
ment houses. As you go farther south within this Assem­
bly District you will come upon more and more tenement 
houses. 

Q. Will you indicate the area at the point at which 
you find these tenement houses~ A. In this region here 
(indicating), up to about 168th or 170th Street. 

Q. And that is the area which has no pins in it? A. 
I see no pins in this rna p in that area. 

Q. Now will you go on 1 A. South of Trinity Cemetery, 
using Broadway as a dividing line, you will find on Amster­
dam A venue tenement houses. On the cross streets you will 
nnd some tenement houses, some wooden s,t.ructure hous~es 
in rather poor repair, and many brownstone houses. East 
of Broadway along the river you will find the type of apart­
ment houses that we all know extend up and down the 
Riverside ( 4770) Drive, that get the view of the river, 
and on the cross streets you will find brownstone houses. 

Q. Can you tell me of your own knowledge, if you know, 
what the population is of the area that you have just de­
scribed as being south of Trinity Church yard~ 

The Court: Well, I do not recognize that de­
scription very well; I lived for some years at 527 
West 143rd Street, which is right where he is talk­
ing about, and I don't seem to recognize the place 
from the way he is talking about the old tenement 
houses, and so on. It did not look like one to me 
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while I was living there. That is between Broad­
way and Anrsterdam. How about that~ 

The Witness: No, I said the tenement houses 
as a whole were along Amsterdam Avenue and your 
cross streets, I said, mainly you found brownstone 
houses. 

The Court: These weren't brownstone houses. 
They were regular apartment houses. I don't under­
stand that. 

The Witness: I am giving an over-all picture 
of the area. There rnay be specific apartment houses 
within the area like the-

The Court : \V ell, take a long row of them, street 
after street of them. I re1nember walking around 
there a good deal. They haven't changed any nowa­
days either-the san1e old houses there; but any­
way, you say-

Mr. T sserman: \Vell, old houses do get older. 
(4771) The Court: What is that~ 
Mr. Isserman: Old houses do get older. 
The Court: Yes, but they weren't brownstone 

houses. 
Mr. Isserman: Your Honor is talking about a 

specific street, and the witness is talking about the 
general character of the area. 

The Court: All right. 

Q. Now, will yon proced, Rev. Darr? A. In regards 
to the characteristics of the population 1 

Q. That is right. A. Do you want this in the terms 
of the racial characteristics 1 

Q. Yes. A. Judging fronr my experience in the 15th 
A. D., I ·would say that tber·e were a fe"r Negroes or Porto 
Ricans living ·within that Assembly District, within the 
12th A. D. 

The Court: The 13th. 
The Witness: No. this is the 15th Assembly Dis­

trict. 
Mr. Isserman: That is the upper portion. 
The Court: AU right. 
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A. (Continuing) vVithin the 12th Assen1bly District be­
_low approximately 168th Street you find a growing in­
crease in the number of Negroes and P.orto Ricans living 
there. 

Q. And that is in relation to what-north and south 
( 4772) streets 1 A. It is east of Broadway and St. Nich­
olas. 

Below Trinity Cemetery, east of Broadway, you will 
:find this increase of Negro and Porto Rican population 
very evident. 

Q. And that adjoins the Harlem area, does it 1 A. That 
adjoins the Harlem area. 

Q. And what about the westerly portion of the area 
south of Trinity Church yard along Riverside Drive' A. 
Along the Riverside Drive I found no Negroes in my in­
vestigation. In the cross streets, in the area south of 
140th Street, there were Negroes living in some of the 
houses there. 

Q. I call your attention to the area you have been talk­
ing about below 137th Street, running down to the end 
of the 21st Congressional District in which on this map 
there are no pins. Can you tell us what the situation in 
respect to that area is 1 A. Well, below 135th Street east 
of Broadway, there are very few houses. They are mainly 
warehouses and auto garages and what not, down to 125th 
Street. Then farther down in this neighborhood you find 
education instH~utions, such as Union Theological Seminary, 
Columbia Univ,er:sitv, the Juilliard School, the Interna­
tional House, down ~to 116th Street, although along Clare­
mont Avenue you will find apartment houses. 

(T-4773) Q. Now I call your attention to the area 
above Trinity Cemetery east of Broadway, specifically the 
area in which no pins are located. Can you tell me the 
racial characteristics of that area' A. That area, as I 
said before, up to about 168th Street is predonlinantl~­
Negro and Porto Rican. 

Q. Going to the 20th Congressional District, are you 
familiar with the physical and racial characteristics of that 
district~ A. Yes, I am. 
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Q. And will you describe those to us in terms of Assem­
bly Districts, or, first, the over-all terms if you can, with 
respect to that point'? A. vVell, you can use, in the case 
of the 20th Congressional District, you can use 70th Street 
as the dividing line. That is the street that divides the 
Third As~sembly District from the Fifth Assembly District. 
North of 70th Street, on your-on certain north and south 
avenues you will find large apartment houses, along River­
side Drive, along "\\Test End Avenue, along Broda way, you 
will find apartment houses and hotel apartments, and 
along Central Park \Vest on these avenues the dominant 
building characteristic are the large apartments. 

Q. And is that the area starting about where? A. 
70th Street. 

Q. Where a cluster of pins is running north~ ( 477 4) 
A. Yes. The pins start at 72nd Street. 

Q. What about the area south of 72nd Street in which 
one pin appears~ Two pins 1 A. In the area south of 
70th Street you have Hell's Kitchen; you have an area 
of docks and warehouses ; you have an area in housing 
of predominantly tenement houses. 

On one or two cross streets, 57th Street and 34th Street, 
you may find apartment houses, but the predominant char­
acteristic of the housing in this area right down to 26th 
Street is-are tenement houses. 

Q. Is it a crowded area~ A. It is a crowded area from 
the point of view of population, although on the western 
side of the area you have, as I say, docks and warehouses 
over to Eleventh Avenue. 

l\fr. Gladstein: Just a minute, Mr. Isserman. 
Your Honor, I am oblig-ed to interrupt the direct 

exan1ination by 1\!Ir. Isserman of this witness, know­
ing as I do that the witness has a good deal of tes­
timony to give that is material to the issues, because 
I have a witness to put on that we have brought 
from Florida, and because your Honor's imposition 
of time limitation makes it impossible for us to 
complete the testimony of l\f r. Darr and at the same 
time put on Mr. Follmer, the former clerk of this 
court, as \v·ell as other witne1sses 'vho are under sub-
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poena and who are waiting in the witness room to 
be-

(4775) The Court: \Vould you like to withdraw 
this witness and put ::Mr. :F,ollmer on~ 

Mr. Gladstein: I did not present this witness. 
I am going to ask, in view of what the Court has 
done-

Mr. Isserman: Well, I will ask the witness an­
other question or two and curtail my examination 
because I, too, an1 intereJSted in behalf of my clients 
in having Mr. Folln1er testify. 

Q. Mr. Darr, you are prepared to testify as to the char­
acteristics in the 16th Assembly District~ A. I am. 

Q. Are you prepared to testify as to the Negro areas 
of New York, the concentration in the 21st, the 20th, and 
the 16th Congressional Dllitricts? A. I am. 

Q. Are you prepared to testify as to the type of build­
ings contained in London Terrace 1 A. I am. 

The Court: He must have been around quite a 
little bit. 

Mr. Isserman: He has be·en. 
The Witness: I have been, your Honor. 
The Court: From all the way uptown, you are 

down to the Battery now. 

Q. Are you prepared to testify specifically on the char­
acteristics of the l3tr.eets in the Seventh Assembly District, 
West End Avenue, Central Park West and Riverside 
( 4776) Drive, as contrasted with the rest of the streets 1 
A. I am. 

Mr. Isserman: If your Honor please, at this 
point I terminate the examination of this witnelo3s on 
the ground that your Honor's time limitation makes 
it impossible for me to continue. 

The Court: Very well. 
l\fr. Isserman: And before Mr. Gladstein calls­

I am sorry, there may be some cross. 
Mr. Gordon: Yes, there may be a couple of ques­

tiOJ.m. 
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Cross exa1nination by M T. Gordon: 

Q. Will you sit down, please~ 

1\fr. Gladstein: lVIay the record show that when 
Mr. Gordon asks the witness to sit down he doesn't 
ask him; he dirBcts him in a n1anner, in a very of­
fensive manner. 

The Court: I did not Bee it. 
Mr. Gladstein: l saw it, your Honor, and I have 

seen it a nun1ber of times. 
The Court : We never seem to agree. You see 

many things that I never seem to notic,e at all, and 
I was standing alongside of him, and I saw nothing 
about the way Mr. Gordon asked him to take his 
seat there that indicated thB 13lightest discourtesy. 

Q. Were you offended, Reverend~ A. No, I wasn't 
( 4777) offended. 

Q. Tell me, how long have you been associated with 
the National Council for American Soviet Friendship 1 

Mr. Isserman: I object to that. That is not 
proper cross-exan1ination, your Honor. 

The Court : Overruled. 
The "\Vitness: What is the question 1 

(Question read.) 

J\1:r. I1.Sserman: And I also object because it as­
sumes a fact not in evidence. 

The Court: vVell, I would like to hear it. Please 
read it, M_r. Reporter. 

(Question read.) 

A. Since 1942. 
Q. And that is an organization which has been listed 

by the Attorney General as a Communist front organiza­
tion 1 

. Mr. Isserman: I object to that,' your Honor, as 
Improper cross-examination. 

The Court : Overruled. 

A. Y-es, it has been. 
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Mr. Lsserman: I would like to state for the 
record that that action of the Attorney General is 
now under suit in the federal courts of the District 
of Columbia. 

The Court : How long did he say he had been 
(4778) a member of that organization-since 1942? 

Mr. Gordon: 1942, your fionor. 

Q. And were you ever a meinber of the Young Coin­
munist League 1 

Mr. Isserman: I object to that, if the Court 
please. 

The Court: Overruled. 
Mr. Isserman: I1nproper cross-·examination. 
Mr. Crockett: I should aL.so like to object and 

state my reasons for the record. I think it is familiar 
law that on cross-exan1ination you are limited to 
what has been brought out on direct examination. 
There has been nothing in the course of the direct 
examination here to indicate that this witness was, 
one, asJsociated with the Council of American Soviet 
Friendship. 11r. Gordon simply assumed that, and 
he assumed a state of facts not in evidence. 

Mr. Gordon: It was shortly in evidence. 
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, he asBumes 

that there is a Young Con1munist League. 
The Court: I will overrule the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: I desire to object on an entirely 

different ground. This line of examination seeks to 
inquire into matters of possible political affiliation 
which are none of the affairs or bu.siness of ~1r. 
Gordon ( 4779) or anyone he represents, in the 
light of the issues here being tried, and the testilnony 
given by this witness, and L ask the Court if it will 
not admonish Mr. Gordon to refrain from an im­
proper pursuit of examination, to advise the wit­
nesi.s that he has the right to refuse to answer any 
such prying question. Will your I-Ionor please ad­
vise the ·witness of his constitutional rights under 
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